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PFB Corporation

Letter to shareholders

The challenges of the year 2020 were unlike those of any other year in thibréiyyear history of th€ompany. The rapid

emergence and spread of a novel coronavirus, that developed into a situation of pandemic proportions across the world, create
apprehension within our management and the need to develop and deploy a strategic response withinratians thas

would protect our employees, support our customers and align our presence in accordance with changing government protocols
within the local communities in which we operate. Our organization, designed for rapid international growth in Cautlagla an

United States, faced many complicated challenges during a very rapidly changing and uncertain economic period; but, was able
to successfully adapt to this dynamic environment. Proudly we can report this was achieved without requiring any financial
support offered under emergency government programs designed to mitigate the financial effects of the penchamy

impacted businesses.

Like most companies during the year, our employees that were able to execute their job functions remotely frdfité®me o

were positioned to do so; nevertheless, our factories required attendance by operational personnel and were kept open and
operating. A strong demand for building materials that we produce developed as people renovated to accommodate these new
demand, placed upon them by government protocols, to remain isolated at home. In a quickly realigned operational format

across all our operations we were able to execute to meet this demand from customers resulting in a very strong financial
performance by th€orporation. Record revenues, earnings and cash flows were generated compared to the prior year. A
complete review of operations is available in the Manageme
Financial Statementsc¢luded inthis annual report.

Across the world the practice of ESG principles by corporations is gaining traction. The demands of society are beimg) heard a
implemented by successful businesses. The sustainability focus of our Corporation since 2007 haslipé¢ka ctwagct ethos

for us to lead our industry and our progress in this pursuit is documented in our transparent reporting of operatiariabdata d
this period. As the leader in our industry, we must, we can and we will continue to improve our lslestiEnelopment focus

in our operationsnd in our product offerings.

During the year 2020 we were able to increase our quarterly dividend to $0.10 per share and in the fourth quarter we again we
able to pay a special dividend of $18€r share to owhareholders.

This year the mettle of the PFB employees and management was acutely tested under conditions that suddenly appeared and wer
constantly changing. The people of this Company rose to the challenge and outperformed expectations. Our engsititinderis
extended to all for this outstanding achievement.

C. Alan Smith
Executive Chairman
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PFB6s Commitment to Sustainability

At PFB Corporation, we are concerned with the future of the planet and the effects that modern life styles may be Hawatg on ¢
change. PFB Corporation is committed to conducting its operations responsibly, mindfueobtizenic environmental andsccial
impacts of its operations. In 2020 PFB maintained focus on our Health and Safety performance of our operations by adtfitinuing
our safety initiatives and focusimgn improving our safety culture

Environmental Performance

PFB has taken &ransparent approach and reports its performance metrics in the annual report. PFB measures and reports inj
including raw materials, enegg and water and our GHGE pvuotlsa;t i Gree eonr hgoduDCr pi@@ahse m
waste. Tle chart belw, showingdirect GHG emissions compared to emissions saved by using our insulation products, is a snapshc
of our more detailed metrics available on our web site devoted to sustainability at the following addvegdbsustainability.com

GHG Emissions (Direct) From PFB Operations
Versus GHG Savings Potential
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Health and SafetyPerformance

Occupational Health and Safety is of paramount importance at PFB Corporation. Starting in late 2016 PFB introduced tg new sa
program calledsoal:Zero. Over the past several years, significant effort was made to implement safety initiatives in lieirwith
Goal:Zero objectives targeting a reduction of our injury rates and severity. Throughout 2020 the PFB Safety Task Force 2
introduced a new safety campaighT O PTHIAIK A A © Bupport the broad&oal:Zero program, which encourages employees
to pauge and take the time to control or eliminate hazards. Our increased efforts acknowledge the unique challenges presented b
ongoing pandemic. We recognize our 2020 safety performance as a call to action and are actively working on and implkamenting |

sdety initiatives for 2021 in an effort to return to 2019 performance levels

LTIF (Lost Time Injury Frequency) Severity Rating
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Lost time incidents (LTA) per 200,000 employee hours (Note: 200,000 hours N N
equivalent of 100 employees working 1 full year)

represents the equivalent of 100 employees working 1 full year regular hours.).
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PFB Corporation

Management 6s di scfarl0 on and anal ysi s

1. Advisory regarding forward -looking statements

Securities laws encourage public issuers to disclose forwarcdo ki ng i nf or mati on in their man
( MD&A) so that investors can get a better understanding
decisionsForwardl ooki ng i nfor mation and statements included in t

beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future are not guarantees of future performance and should not be undulyrelied upo

Allforwardloo ki ng st atements refl ect maln20d,eitheespectts futare events,mnd theyi e w
are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may cause the actual results, performance or achlavements to
materially dfferent from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by suchlfmykiag]

statements.

Such risks, uncertainties and assumptions include, but are not limited to: general economic conditions; the cost dityl afvailabi
captal; actions by government authorities; actions by regulatory authorities; availability of raw materials; changes in raw
materials prices; currency exchange rates; interest rates; competitor activity; industry pricing pressures; seasa@nality of th
construction industry; and weather related factors. A more detailed assessment of the risks that could cause actual results to
materially differ from current expectations can be found in the Risk Management and Assessment section of this MD&A.

2. Other advisories regarding this MD&A

The foll owing MD&A of the operating results and financi a
years ended December 312P@aind 20Bs houl d be read in conjunction with PFB’
related notes which is available on SEDARvatw.sedar.conra nd o n P F B iwsw.pfbherb.com tAdditiomally, PFB
maintains a website atww.pfbsustainability.conthat provides our measurement and reporting of sustainable development data
in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative.

Theaudited consolidated financial statements of PFB, for the years ended Decemb@02h®B0D, have been prepared in
accordance with International Financi al Reporting Standa
StandardsBodr ( “ 1 ASB” ) .

This MD&A was reviewed by the Audit Committ de&0Zadngdeventspr ov
occurring after that date may affect the usefulness of the information contained in this document.

The currency presented imis MD&A is Canadian dollars ($ thousands) unless otherwise stated.

3. Business overview

PFB Corporation is a Canadian publitlr aded company i ncorporated under the Al
corporate office is located at 300, 2891 Sunridgey WBR, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T1Y 7K7. The principal business activity of
PFB is manufacturing insulating building products made from expanded polystyrene materials and marketing those products in

North America. We report our results of operationsundest segment s; Canada and the Unite
PlasttFab Ltd., the Cor pewnedsubsididrysopdeaes mahufaataringrahdosalds facilities in the provinces
of British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and @Gntari n Canad a . PFB America Cor p

wholly-owned subsidiary in the USA, operates manufacturing and sales facilities in the skiggadad Minnesota, Michigan,
Ohio, and Idaho.

Our operations are verticatiptegrated in thatexpandate pol ystyrene resin is manufactur
Crossfield, Alberta, for use exclusively in our downstre
polystyrene resin is also sourced from other supplierspplement internally produced raw materials. Pigsii® EPS Product
Solution$’ supplies EPS foam cores used to manufacture InsfISpi®$ (Structural Insulating Panel Systems). The PFB

Custom Homes Group provides a complete design, supply and instatiagiahility for Point Zer§ Homes, Precision Craft Log

& Timber Home$§ and Riverben® Timber Framing structures which are typically sold with an accompanying InstilSpRs
enclosure package and Advantage ICF Syste(tissulating Concrete Forming Systefoundation. Complete design services

are provided by M.T.N. Desigh to compliment the product offering.
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PlasttFab EPS Product Solutions are products manufactured us
five market categorie rigid insulation board; insulating building systems; geotechnical engineered applications; buoyancy, and
products for packaging and display applications.

Advantage ICF Systeffisire insulating concrete forming systems which, by incorporating concrete and steel, are employed to
build insulated foundations and walls in both residential and commercial construction markets. Insulspan SIPS areatseal to cre
buil di ng’ sllfranteand totreplaca trussesan roof systems to form an eaffigjgnt structural envelope.

Financial information

4.1 Financial highlights summaryi quarterly

Years ended December 31,28Gnd 208D
$ thousands, except per share amounts

2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019 2019
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Sales $37,059 $41,986 $31,518 $ 24,233 $36,824 $36,874 $3H421 $24,113
Gross profit 12,024 15,417 9,531 5,737 10,461 10,202 9,436 4,729
Gross profit margin % 32.4 36.7 30.2 23.7 28.4 27.7 26.6 19.6
Operating income (loss) 6,959 9,975 5,088 770 5,237 4,940 4,255 (952
Net income (loss) 4993 7,331 3,750 346 3,695 3442 3,061 (1,172
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic 0.73 1.09 0.56 0.05 055 051 045 (0.17)
Diluted 0.70 1.08 0.55 0.05 054 050 044 (0.17)
Adjusted EBITDA" 8,047 11,065 6,278 1,909 6,363 6,080 5,410 185

Adjusted EBITDA per share  $1.18  $1.64 $0.94 $0.29 $095 $090 $080 $0.3

*NonIFRS financial measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be cosipéieble t
measures presented by other issuers. Definitions ofFfR8 measures used in the above table along with relevaert rdkes are detailed in
Section20 of thisMD&A.

PFB’ s operations exhibit seasonal variations concurre
including variability in weather patterns. Typically, sales revenues are lowest finstn@nd fourth quarters and highest in
the second and third quarters of the fiscal cycle.
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4.2 Selected annual financial information for years ended December 31,2202019, and 208

$ thousands except where indicated 2020 2019 2018

Operating results
Consolidated results:

Sales $ 134,796 $ 133,232 $ 128,345

Gross profit 42,709 34,828 29,171

Operating income 22,792 13,480 9,697

Net income 16,420 9,026 6,170

Adjusted EBITDA! 27,299 18,038 14,441
Salesby operating segment:

Canada 80,453 78,152 78,346

USA 54,343 55,080 49,999
Operating income by segment:

Canada 14,631 7,831 5,009

USA 7,451 5,973 4,105

Per common share data
Earnings per share:

Basic 2.44 1.34 0.92

Diluted 2.37 1.31 0.92
Dividend paid per shareRegular 0.37 0.35 0.32
Dividend paid per shareSpecial 1.00 1.00 -
Adjusted EBITDA per shareBasic* 4.05 2.68 2.16
Book value' 9.12 8.32 8.34
Financial condition
Total assets 101,506 92,703 94,622
Current assets 56,335 44,353 44,053
Current liabilities 22,913 19,264 19,511
Non-cash working capital 2,651 7,033 8,211
Property, plant and equipment (net) 33,400 35,030 36,694
Right-of-useassets (net) 6,287 7,391 8,305
Intangible assets (net) 1,410 1,540 1,447
Goodwill 2,241 2,275 2,360
Lease obligations including current portion 8,895 9,846 10,609
Longterm debt including current portion 7,856 8,217 8,568
Otherlong-term liabilities 1,410 1,260 1,397
Sharehol der s’ equi ty 61,966 55,644 56,009
Financial ratios
Gross profit margir 31.7% 26.1% 22.7%
Operating margin 16.9% 10.1% 7.6%
Net income margin 12.2% 6.8% 4.8%
Current ratic* 2.46x 2.30x 2.26x
Return on equity 29.5% 16.1% 123%

!Non-IFRS financial measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be cosipéeable t
measures presented by other issuers. Definitions ofFR8 measures used in the above table along with relevanmtraites are detailed in
Section20 of this MD&A.
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5. Consolidated results of operations

The results of the Corporation
basis for inclusion in the consolidatidancial statements

s operations in thec Unite

Sales

Consolidated sales increased by 1.2%, or $1,564, in the year ended December 31, 2020 to reach a record high of $134,796
surpassing the previous record set in 2019. Sales in the first quarter showed marginal gains despiteetsghgimpacted by

the COVID-19 pandemic in thiatter part of thejuarter. The full negative impact of the pandemic manifested in the second
guarter which resulted in substantially lower sales on a comparable basis. The third quarter recovereerabamplihe declines

of the previous quarter as construction activity ramped up in response to the industry efforts to implement appropriate safet
protocols and procedures, allowing construction to continue. The fourth quarter shoveesentabains despite the delays and
schedule changes experienced in our US bundled product and panel system business. Sales growth was primarily driven by
increased business activity in the Canadian operating segment led by larger infrastructure projegrseangitiligovernment
stimulus spending in this area.

Gross profit

Consolidatedyross profit in 2020 was $42,709, an increase of 22.6% or $7,881 as compared to gross profit of $34,828 reported
2019. Consolidated gross profit was a record high achiewedgdfiscal 2020, surpassing the previous record set in 2019. The
gross profit margin, expressed as a percentage of sales, averaged 31.7% in the current year, a significant improvement from
26.1% reported in the comparative year.

The Corporatiots princpal raw material input, styrene monomer, trended downward in price throughout most of 2019 and into
2020. The macroeconomic impact of the pandemic resulted in accelerated price declines spanning the first and second quartet
Prices elevated to more typidavels by the end of the fourth quarter. The resulting, and significant, price reductions of our raw
material, which are priced in US dollars, were marginally offset by the rapid appreciation of the U.S. dollar at theesame tim
Consequently, raw mateti@ost decreases favourably impacted gross profits and gross profit margins for the duration of the year

The increase in gross profit margin in the current year was predominantly influenced by lower raw material costs thineughout t
year. Stable productiging, improved operational efficiencies, overhead spending controls and to a lesser extent, higher volume
of product sold also contributed to the favourable results. The cost of inventories recognized as an expense in cdstinfsales
the year was #,661, and contrasted with $77,842 in the prior.year

Insurance claim- gain
The settlement of an insurance claim in the second quarter resulted in a gain of $65.

Selling expenses

Consolidated selling expensgscreased to $1,971in 2020 from $12,514in 2019, afavourable derease of $53 As a result of
management implemented selling expense controls including reduced employee travel expenses due to pandemic related
government restrictions, our overall selling expense decreased signifi€wehall, £lling expenses when expressed as a
percentage of sales, weBe®% in 20 ascompared to 9% in 2019.

Administrative expenses

Consolidated administrative expenses increase8,@/8in 2020 from expenses of $742reported in 209, an increase of 8.
Increased administrative costs weremarily attributable to additionamployee profit sharinmcentives on strong overall
financial performance, however were offset by other deductions in administrative expenditures as a result of management
implemente controls. Alministrative expenses when expressed as@ptage of sales were 6.0%2020 when compared to
5.8% in 201 and remain in proportion to overall sales

Other gains (osse$

Othergainsin 2020 of $128compared with othdpsses of $,092in 2019 a favourable variance of $1,220. The variance was
primarily related tahe nonoccurrence of onéime, sharebased compensation expengasetime RSUaward) of$990in 2019
versus $62 in the current year, or a reduction of $@28er gains includiérealized foreign currency gains of $206 in 2020 versus
losses of $79 in 2019, upon the settlement and recognition of realized currency gains on an intercomgaggiloah$48 was
realized on the disposals of property, plant and equipment in the currecbygaaredo loseson disposals of HLin 2019 and
unrealized foreign currency losses @& ontrasted with losses of $11 in the prior year.
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Investment income

Investment income reported inZDwas $5 versus $£19in 2019. Investment income primarily consisted 88019 - $96) for
interest earned on bank balances, a2id(2019 - $23) ofinterest collected from customers on past due trade receivables.

Financecosts

Financecosts decreased by@&from $1,163in the prior year to $123in the currat year primarily related to a reductionthe
balance ofmortgage anteaseoutstanding

During 2020, operating line usage incurred $6 in finance sestsis $1 ir2019.

Income before taxes

Income befordgaxes in 2@0was $21,799 as compared to income before taxe$s2)36in 2019,anincrease of $9,363, and
primarily attributable to higher gross mangreduced selling expenses and reduced compartiide gains (losses)

Income taxes

The currenincometax expense increased fror8,410in 2019 to $5,378in 2020 asa result of higher taxable income in Canada
and theUnited StatesTheeffective taxrate in 2@0was24.7% (2019 — 27.4%) andhas decrea&sl from theprior yearon
reductions to the Alberta Corporate Income Tax rates enacted during the year.

The current year effective tax rate approximaitesfull effect of the tax reductiongrior period adjustmentsax rates of
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions and otAradjustments that areflected inboth thecurrent and deferred income
taxes.

Net income and earnings per share

Consolidated néhcome in 2@0was $16,420 as compared to consatiédl net income 0f2%026in 2019. Basi®arnings per
shareof $2.44 and diluted earnings per share of $2.37 in 2020 compared to basic earnings per $t@deanti®lilute@arnings
per share of $31in 2019.A reduction in the corporate income tax stad the effect of reducing the effective tax rate and
contributed taa record reportedmount ofnet income in the current year.

The weighted average number of bagimmmon shares outstandimgreased from 6,720,859 733,022 and the weighted

averge number of fully diluted commons shares increased &@®7,535 td®,923,928 The increases in the basic weighted

shares outstanding are attributed to annualizing the effect of common shares issued from treasury upon the exercied of restri
share urts and share options. The increases in the fully diluted weighted shares outstanding are attributed to a higher average
market price of shares, above the exercise price. The number of issued and outstanding common shares increased in fiscal 20
by 106,000shares.

6. Reportable operating segments
The Corporation has two reportable operating segments:

Operating segments Description of segments

Canada Manufacturing and sales operations located in Canada for expanded
polystyrene (EPS) products and structural insulating panels

Brands PlastiFaly® EPS Product SolutiofisAdvantage ICF Systefn
Insulspafi SIPS; DuroFoarh

United States of America (USA) Manufacturing and sales operations located in the USA for EPS prod
building systems and structures, design services and installations

Brands PlastiFat® EPS Product SolutiofisDuroSpan; Insulspén
SIPS; Riverbent Timber Framing; Precision Créft.og &
Timber Homes; M.T.N. Desigff; Total HomeSolutior?’; Point
Zero™; TimberScapé&
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The Corporation operates individual legal entities in Canada and the USA which are reported as operating segments and rever
is reported in accordance with that segmentation.

Each operating segment mirrors t lbedinGlote 2ptotheaudited consslidated c o u n t
financial statements for the years ended December 20,8 20B) and its internal controls and reporting systems.

Segment performance predominantly focuses on operating results and the manner in whicls resoalioeated based on
Canadian and USA operations, respectively. The Canadian segment primarily derives its revenues from the sale of expanded
polystyrene (“EPS”") foam products, which it mydenvfesitst ur es
revenues from the sale of EPS foam products, customized log and timber structures made at its facilities in the United States
which typically include design and installation services that together provide the basis for a bundled saknofétstuned

products.

The chief operating decision maker evaluates performance on the basis of operating income or loss, as reported on a periodic
basis. This performance measure is considered to be the most relevant in evaluating the results oatagtsegerent.
6.1 Segment sales revenues and operating income

Segment sales represent sales revenues directly attributable to each segment aftgmietet sales have been eliminated
(see supplemental disclosures in the other segment inforntalila). There are varying levels of integration between each
segment.

Segment operating income represents the income reported by each segment excluding any allocations of corporate incom
expenses, and foreign exchange gains or losses arising eeeigieent settlements.

Information regarding each reportable operating segment for years ended Decemb20 ahd2ZD P is set out below:

Sales revenues Operating income
2020 2019 2020 2019
Canada $ 80,453 $ 78152 $ 14,631 $ 7,831
USA 54,343 55,080 7,451 5,973
Total for segments $ 1%,796 $ 133,232 22,082 13,804
Corporate-income(loss) 718 (330)
Foreign exchang@oss)gain on intersegment settlements (8) 6
Consolidated operating income $ 22,792 $ 13,480
Canada
Sales

Sales reported by th@anadian operating segment increased to $80,453 in 2020 from $78,152 inrPidteease of $2,301
or 2.9%. Canadian segment sales were stronger in the second half of taedybanefited from increased construction
activity as well as the completion of several large infrastructure professs growth of our core EPS insulating and
building products werked by increased activity in Eastern Canada offset somewhat by softer salesiisptbelucing
regions in Canda, when compared on a yeaveryear basisSales of oustructural insulated panel systemonstrated
growth for the year.

In the fourth quarteof 2020, the Canadian segment saheseased to $9,694compared to $8,140in the comparative
guarter, aincrease 08.6%. Canadian sales wegenerally comparable to or higher in each of the geographic regions we
operate. Sales growth was driven by core EPS insulating and building product and supported by stronger sales of our
structural insulated pansygemson increased residential and commercial construction activity

Operating income

Operating income generated by tBanadian segment in the current year was $14#&8ihcrease of@&800o0r 86.8% from
operating income of $7,831 in 201@argins remaine strong throughout the year as a result of significantly lower raw
material input costperational efficiencieand overhead costs also decreased during the year, reflective ofa g e me n t ’
efforts to optimizehe operations to changimgonomic conditins resulting from the pandemldigher freight costbiad a

slightly unfavourable impact on margins
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USA
Sales

2020 full year sales by the USA operations decreased slightly as compared to 2019. Sales of our core EPS insulation and
building products remained robust but when compared to prior year, declined slightly as large infrastructure projedts were 1
repeatedn 2020 at the same frequency. Sales of our Custom Homes Group bundled products and our structurally insulatec
panel systems were flat year over year however, order books continued to build over the second half of 2020 and remain v
strong. Overall, USAegment growth was constrained due to project delays and schedule changes as a result of the macro
effects of the pandemic.

As reported in Canadian doltarsales in the current year were $54,343 versus sal&és @8in 2019, adecrease of $37
over pior year orl.3%. These figures are stated in Canadian dollars and a weaker Canadiarodetkll in2020 created a
favourable currency effect when USA segment sales transacted in U.S. dollars are converted into the reporting currency.

Eliminating themarginal effect of foreign exchange fluctuations, sales, expressed in USA dedees$®,719 forthe 2020
year or2.0% lowerthan salesf $41,534in the comparative 201@ear.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the USA segment sales decreased 363t@m $18,684 in the three month period of 2019, a
decrease of approximately 7.1%. These figures are stated in Canadian dollars and during the fourth quarter of 2020 and 2(
currency movements were comparable at $1.32 per US $1.00 in both periodsxpatsssed in USA dollars, were $13,345

in the fourth quarter or 5.7% lower than sales of $14,154 in the comparative quarter. The comparative sales decline in the
fourth quarter was primarily related to the Custom Homes Group project based businesseadgaelays in shipping
materi al packages to customer s’ residenti al sites.

Operating income

The USA segment generated operating income in the cyranif $7,451comparedo operatingncome of $,973in
2019,an increase of $1,47%8 24.7%o0n a yeaoveryear basisOverall, gerating incoméncreasediue tolower raw
material input costs and operational improvements in labouoeertheachs well as reduced selling expenses.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter, operating earnings vi@veuraby impacted by a significant, orténe, recovery
payment in the amount of $152 that was refunded to the Corporation as a surplus from goverammdeted programs we
are required to participate in. The recovery payment was unrelated to any government T3OAg§dstance programs.

6.2 Segment assets and liabilities

Management measures capital employed using net segmented assets. The reconciliation of segmented assets and segme
liabilities in relation to total consolidated assets and liabilities is sehdbe table below:

As at As at

Dec 31, 220 Dec 31, 209

Assets Segment assets $ 46,869 $ 49,198

Assets not allocated to segments:

Cash and cash equivalents 32,271 20,129

Restricted marketable securities 1,483 1,483

Freehold land and buildings 20,570 21,567

Corporate taxeb 313 326

Total assets $ 101,506 $ 92,703

Liabilities Segment liabilities $ 22,789 $ 18,996
Liabilities not allocated to segments:

Lease obligations 8,895 9,846

Long-term debt 7,856 8,217

Total liabilities $ 39,540 $ 37,059

Net segment assets Canada $ 18,746 $ 22,889

USA 5,3% 7,313

! Deferred taxes.
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6.3 Other segment information

2020 2019
Additions to non-current assets:
Canada $ 824 $ 1,172
USA 768 917
Corporate - 113
Total $ 1,592 $ 2,202
Additions to right -of-use assets:
Canada $ 137 $ 351
USA 75 126
Total $ 212 $ 477
Depreciation and amortization:
Canada $ 2431 $ 2,526
USA 959 973
Corporate 1,022 1,059
Total $ 4442 $ 4558
Inter -segment sales $ 5515 $ 8,202
Results of operations fourth quarters ended December 312020 and 2019
$ thousands except where indicated 2020 2019
Consolidatedesults:
Sales $ 37,069 $ 36,824
Gross profit 12,024 10,461
Operating income 6,959 5,237
Net income 4,98 3,695
Earnings per share:
Basic 0.73 0.55
Diluted 0.70 0.54
Weighted averageumber of shares outstanding
Basic 6,797,003 6,720,859
Diluted 7,111,932 6,907,535
Sales by operating segment:
Canada 19,694 18,140
USA 17,365 18,684
Operating income by segment:
Canada 3,677 1,339
USA 3,086 3,763
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Sales

Consolidated saleset a record high for a fourth quarter reporting period. Consolidated sales inénetiiefburth quarteof
2020to reach a recorligh of$37,059surpassing the previous record isethe prior fourth quarter $36,824by $235 All of
the growth in fourth quarter sales came from the Canadian segment, which rep&&d arcrease, compared with sales in
Q4/19.

Gross profit

Grossprofit, expressed as percentage of sales was 32.# the current year quarter, an increase of 400 basis points from 28.4%
in the fourth quarter of 2019. The higher gross profit in the fourth quarter of 2020 is attributable to strong perforthance of
Canadian segment on improvements in material, labour and overhead costs, when expressed as a percent of sales, compared
prior year period.

Operating income

Increased sales and bettprality margins factored into much improved operating income eesuthe current quarter versus
Q4/19. Operating income was $6,959 in the current quarter as compate@3dif Q4/19, a favourable variance of $1,72d
by the strong performance of the Canadian segment

Net income and earnings per share
Net income m the current quartavas $!,99 as compared to a net income &{@d5in the comparative quarter of 2019, a
favourable variance of $198.

Basicand dilutedearnings per share in the curreptarter were $03 and $070, respectively as compared to $9and $0.54,
respectively, reported for the fourth quarter of 2019.

8. Liquidity and capital resources

Sources of liquidity

PFB maintained a strofgjuidity position whichincreased from the beginning of the current year reflecting strong sales and an
efficient cash conversion cycle from both operating segments. PFB erziedifdcash and cash equivalents 82871 a

$12,142 increase from the prior ye@he net cash from operating activities increasedhy#3compared to the prior year.

Future liquidty depends on PFB being able to sustain cash flows from operating activities in conjunction with the availability of
bank credit facilities. T h eernCdebt goptainacertaim aoversants; with which thef Carpoiration t
was h compliance as at December 312@@nd 20®. PFB anticipates that future liquidity will be adequate to fund its ongoing
business activities including anticipated changes irgamth working capital, capital expenditures, payment of financial
obligations,and payment of regular dividends over the next twelve months.

PFB’'s revolving credit facility in Ca2fada and the USA we
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent balances as at DecemberZBiar020D were as follows:

December 31, 200 December 31, 209

Cash held with banks $ 24,771 $ 18,629
Shortterm investments 7,500 1,500
$ 32,271 $ 20,129

As at December 31, 20, PFB held net cash balances 82871 an increase from the cagbsition as at December 31, 2)1
which was £0,129. A significant proportion of the cash on hand, resides in the USA segment.

Cash- restricted

Restricteccash amounted td2f)33 an increaseof $1,109from $924in 2019 as cash waapplied towards cordctual

performance obligationRestricted cash comprises cash collected from certain customers of the USA segment that is
contractually segregated from other cash and not comingled, as it is held exclusively for disbursements to suppliéce and serv
providers specific to those individual customer contracts.

PFB's cash and restricted cash balances typically fluctu
customers for bundled construction contracts.
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Borrowings

During 2@0, therewere no additional borrowings of lorigrm debtduring the fiscal year. e Corporatiomhaslong-term debt in
a form of a mortgageecured by land and buildingheterms of the debt are a fixed interest rate of 3.25% foeyeab period,
with a 20year amortization.

The Corporation is subject to certain covenants on its outstandingdonglebt, one of which is a financial covenant to maintain
a Debt Service Covage Ratio of not less than 1.2%0Q. The Debt Service Coverage Ratio is defined as adjusted EBITDA for
the current year, less dividends, divided by the sum of all principal and interest payments during the course of tlee year. Th
calculated Debt Servidgoverage Ratio at December 3120@nd 208 exceeded the minimum requirement of 1.2801

Total balance of current and noarrert portions of longterm debt was %856as at December 31, 20, which has decreased by
$361 for principal repayments

Bank credit facilities

Canada

In January 2019, the Corporation increased its credit facility arrangements from $10,000 to $17,000. The revolving facility
continues to be secured by a first ranking security interest in trade receivables and inventori€amddien subsidiarythe
Corporation provides a guarantee and postponement of claim to the hhakaimount of $17,000.

The interest rate applicabl e on dr apvinse rateand the failftyacarnes aominah e f
maintenance fed@he credit facility was not drawn as at DecentbEr2@®0 and 208.
USA

In April 2020, the Corporation increased its US credit facility arrangements from $1,250 to $3,000. The réaciliting
continuego be secured by alhventory and equipment of the USA subsidiary, and subject to certain additional covenants. The
interest rate applicable on draws made against the facility is a variable rate based on an indeXflus 0.25

The Canadian and USA revolvirgedit facilities emained fully available at the end of the current y€ae Corporation
continues to follow a policy of carrying US dollar balances in the USA segment and borrowing in Canadian dollars, when
required, rather than executing multiple cross border foreigmaexe transactions.

Change in norcash working capital*

The balance sheet changes in the principal components @astnworking capital in 2020 and 2019 are highlighted in the
following table.

2020 2019 Change

Trade receivables $ 10,692 $ 10,746 $ (54)
Inventories 10,061 11,598 (1,537)
Prepaid expenses 546 469 77
Contract cost 732 487 245
Trade and other payables (11,661) (10,324) (1,337)
Contract liabilities (7,719) (5,943) (1,776)
$ 2,651 $ 7,033 $ (4,382)

! Definitions of noRIFRS measures used in the above table are detaifgetiion 20 of this MD&A

In 2020, norcash working capital decreased by an amount of $4,382 to $2,651 at the end of the current year from $7,033 in 20

Trade receivables decreasattbe balance sheet by $54 in 2@2@ich was a minor chang&he value of actual trade receivables
written-off in the current year decreased to $ithe current yeairom $46 in 2019.

The overall carrying cost of inventories at the end of 2020 was &lL@®compared to $11,598 at the end of 2019, a decrease of
$1,537. Raw materiglsvork in progresand finished goods wegdl atlower levels Lower inventories were reflective of
decreased input costs as compared to the prior year and active inveat@myament strategies

Prepaid expense of $546 has increased by $77 from the prior year on additional software license and information technology
renewals.
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Contract costs represent the incremental costs of obtaining a contact with a customer on the expectation these costs will be
recovered upon the completion of performance obligations over time. Contract costs increased by $245 from $487 at the end o
2019 b $732 at the end of the current year. The increase primarily represents the commissionable costs payable to sales staff
obtaining signed contracts within the Custom Homes Group near the latter part of 2020.

Trade and other payables were $1,337 higihé¢ie end 2020 as compared to at the end of 201&dditional accruals for
employee profit share incentives and sales taxes payable on higher sales in the latter part of 2020

Custometiabilities represent consideration received prior to delivergaesformance obligation and customers; rebates eared, but
not yet paid. Contract liabilities increased by $1,776 since the beginning of the year, primarily representing increased
consideration from customers to secure their future deliveries of custoncimoeainly in the USA segment and additional
customer rebates earned and not paid on higher sales acBaityract liabilities increased by $1,776 in 2020 as a result of
delays in completing performance obligations and the additional deposits reaeined signed sales contracts witttie

Custom Homes Group in the fourth quarter.

Summary of cash flows
A summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in the following table:

2020 2019
Net cash flows from (used):
Cash from operating activities, before income taxes $ 31,695 $ 20,190
Income taxes paid, net (4,585) (2,653)
Net cash from operating activities 27,110 17,537
Net cash used in investing activities (2,569) (1,613)
Net cash used ifinancing activities (11,816) (12,038)
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cas
in foreign currencies (583) (701)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,142 3,185
Cash and cash equivalertbeginning ofthe year 20,129 16,944
Cash and cash equivalertend of the year $ 32,271 $ 20,129

(a) Operating activities
In 2020, cash from operating activities before income taxes paid, was $31,695 as compared to $20,190 in the comparative
year, an increase of $11,505. The yeeeryear increase was primarily duesignificantlyhigheroperatingncome from
highersaleslower material input costs, and reduced+tash working capitalncome taxes paid were $4,585 in the current
compared to $2,653 in the prior year as a result of higher taxable incdioth the Canadian artde USA segment,
resulting in net cash from epating activities of $7,110 in 2020 compared to $17,537 in 2019.

(b) Investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities in 2020 was $2,569 as compared to cash used in investing activities of $1,613 in 2019
anincrease of $958Changes inrivesting ativities wereprimarily due taincreases in restricted casfithin the Custom
Homes Group.

In the current year, purchases of property plant and equipment (PP&E) were $1,547 and purchases of intangible assets we
$45 compared to PRR.purchases of $1,885 and intangible purchases of $317 in 2019, an deeralisef $610. PP&E
expenditures were mainly directedbath themaintenance of business operatianslat the future optimization and

efficiency of operations?roceeds from dposals of PP&E in the current year amounted to $67 as compared to $47 in 2019.

(c) Financing activities
Cash used in financing activities in 2020 was $11,816 as compared to $12,038 in 2019, a decrease of $222.
Repayments of finance lease obligationsG2@amounted to $1,156 as compared to $1,157. Repayments -¢étondebt

in the current year were $361 as compared to $8%ecrease in finance costs from $31n 2019 to $1,1223 in 2@0 reflect
ongoing reductions on balances owingl@mg-term debt ad lease obligations related to property.
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Proceeds from insurance were $65 from a settlement of a claim in the second quarter.
The exercise of options resulted in proceeds of $51 in 2020 as compared to $202 in the prior year.

In both 2020 and 2019, PRi&id regular quarterly dividends in Februaway, August and November. Additionally, in the
fourth quarter of @20, PFB paid a onéime, special dividend of $1.00 per common shaggregatelividends paid in the
current year amounted to $9,282 compare to aggregatelividends paid in 20d.of $9,044

No shares were purchased in the open markets in 2020, whe2&9i50,000 shares weprchasednd cancelledt a
costof $525.

Outstanding share data
The issued and outstanding number of common slaaras March 11, 2020 was 6,797,003.

Capital structure and capital management

PFB manages its capital structure to ensure its consolidated operations continue to operate as a going concern, ébuopsimize r
to shareholders, and to safeguard corporaetas

PFB’' s capital st r uc t-termelebtoofisat byi cash and aash equiealents) anb eéquity df thenQprporation
(comprising issued share capital, reserves, accumulated comprehensive income, and retained earnings as detailed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity).

PFB's capital structure, net of cash and cash equitabel ent
As at As at
December 31, 202C December 31, 201¢
Debt (excluding leasebligations) $ 7,856 $ 8,217
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 32,271 20,129
Surplus cash (24,415) (11,912)
Sharehol der s’ equity $ 61,966 $ 55,656

PFB considers the amount of capital it requires in proportion to the associatedrisksu st ment s may be mad
structure in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The cap#atastruc

be maintained or adjusted in a variety of ways as circumstances change, in&dgisting the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders; purchasing shares for cancellation (under Normal Course Issuer Bids); issuing new shares; and increasing or
repaying debt financing.

PFB pursues its capital management objectives by prudeathaging the capital generated through internal growth of its
operations, optimizing the use of lower cost capital when required, and raising share capital when deemed appropdiate, to fun
significant strategic growth initiatives.

Share-based options

PFB ganted 125,000 share options in the year ended December 31, 2020 and 6,000 share options were exercised. In the year
ended December 31, 2019, PFB granted 100,000 share options and 25,000 were exercised in 2019.

Restricted share units

PFB granted 100,000 restricted share units on January 1, 2019. Each restricted share unit is entitled to dividend equivalent
payments to be paid at the time regular and special dividends are paid. Dividend equivalent payments paid in 2020 amounted t
$18 R019- $135).

In the year ended December 31, 2020, there were 100,000 restricted share units exercised, resulting in the issuar@e of 100,00
common shares from treaguwhich had the effect of a $950 decrease in eegétyled benefits reserve and &89ncrease in
capital stock. There were no restricted share units remaining or outstanding as at December 31, 2020.

Share capital

The Corporation has one class of publicly traded votasng
at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is set forth in the following table:
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December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
No. of Shares  Amount No. of Shares Amount
Balance, beginning of the year 6,691,003 $ 21,012 6,716,003 $ 20,947
Exercise of stock options 6,000 52 25,000 222
Exercise of restricted share units 100,000 950 - -
Repurchased pursuant to normal course issue - - (50,000) (157)
Balance, end of the year 6,797,003 $ 22,014 6,691,003 $ 21,012

Dividends
Int he first quarter of 2020, the Corporation’s be$.08ipenof d

common share which was paid in February of each year, respectively. The dividend payment in February 2020 amounted to $¢
(2019 - $538).

In the second quarter of 2020, the Corporation’s -80®d9rd o
per common share which was paid in May of each year, respectively. The dividend payment in May 2020 antbéf@ed to
(2019- $607).

In the third quarter of 2020, the Corporation’s -$009ped o f
common share which was paid in August of each year, respectively. The dividend payment in Augasid®0®6d to $611
(2019- $606).

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Corporation’ s-$@ard o
per common share which was paid in November of each year, respectively. The dividend pajoeember 2020 amounted
to $680 (2019 $607).

I n the year ended December 31, 2020, -tmek specdabdividend cd$1i0®(2019% B
- $1.00) per common share which was paid on November 30, 2020€20d8&mber 2, 2019).

Aggregate dividends paid in the year ended December 31, 2020, amounted to $9,293020449).

Dividends paid by PFB, in 2020, qualify as eligible dividends and satisfy the enhancedmesss dividend tax credit change
enacted under Canadh tax law

Normal course issuer bid

I n September 2020, the Corporation obtained approval fro
|l ssuer Bid (the -“mBnthgéripd, whichocgnmmenoed foroSepteambet 2, 2020, ascherldter than

September 2, 2021. The renewal allows the Corporation to purchase, up to a maximum of 50,000 of its common shares
representing 0.74% of the Corporation’s 6,791,003 isysued
maximum purchases of 1,000 common shares. The Corporation may also make one block purchase per calendar week, which
exceeds such daily restriction, subject to the rules of the TSX. The Corporation will purchase froortitingsits common

shares at markerices by means of open market transactions on the Toronto Stock Exchange

The Corporation did not purchase any of its common shares for cancellation inr2@0comparativ@eriodendedDecember
31, 2019, the Corporation purchased for cancelfai®,000 of its common shares for an aggregate price of $525, of which $368
was charged to retained earnings as a premium on redemption of the comman shares

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income or loss, together with aghimireconomic gains and losses that, collectively, are
described as “other comprehensive income” and those item
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A summary of comprehensive income for the three and twelve month periods eschrdider 31, 280 and 209 is as follows:

Three month periods

ended December 31

Twelve month periods
ended December 31

2020 2019 2020 2019
Net income for the period $4993 $ 3,695 $ 16,420 $ 9,026
Other comprehensive loss (1,602 (339) (919) (1,014)
Comprehensive income for the period $ 3391 $ 3,356 $ 15,501 $ 8,012

In the fourth quarter of 2D, comprehensive income was $313s compared to a comprehensive income @3&in the
comparative quarter of 2010thercomprehensive loss ofl§02(Q4/19 — lossof $339) in the current quarter consisted of losses

of $1,453(Q4/19—lossof $505 at tri but ed

t o

forei
of $149(Q4/19 — gainof $166) from pension plan valuation changes.

gn

currency trantpdgsat i

Included in accumulated comprehensive income at December &1, \2€re foreign currency translation adjustments totalling
$770, and $19 of defined benefit valuation changes, net of tax, for total accumulated otheretmmsive loss of 319 The
foreign currency translation adjustments througho@02éflect a slightly weakened Canadian dollar througho@02then
retranslating USA segment from US dollars into Canadian dollars, resulting in the currency translastomeadjof $70. The
$149lossin pension plan valuation changes in December 320 #0m againof $166at December 31, 2@1reflects re
measurements of the defined benpéihsion plamssethrough accumulated other comprehensive income, effectedxor t

Contractual obligations and commitments

In the normal course of business, PFB is obligated to make future contractual payments. As at Decentter 31PZO B’ s
contractual obligations and commitments are as outlined in the following table:

Contractual obligations* Within 2-3 415 Over
(Payment due periods) Total 1 year years years 5 years
Long-term debt (principal & interest) $ 10,123 $ 623 $ 1,246 $ 1,246 $ 7,008
Lease obligations 14,886 1,972 3,503 2,817 6,594
Commitments for PP&E

and intangible assets 352 352 - - -
Other longterm obligations 564 219 345 - -
Fixed-price utility contracts 972 355 507 110 -
Total contractual obligations $ 26,897 $ 3,521 $ 5,601 $ 4,173 $ 13,602

e Long-term debtand lease obligations in the above table represent the aggregate outstanding principal amounts and related finance costs.

(O

Longterm debt obligations are a result of significant-timee events in 2017 and represent a mortgage on the purchase of certain
leased assets in 2017. Lease obligations have increased as a result of new lease accounting standards with respect to finance
obligations for property (land, office space, manufacturing and storage facilities), vehicles, truck and trailers officergqui

machinery and equipment.

From timeto-t i me , under the

t er ms

of

certai

n dta pravide performancesontss ,

f

as security. Performance bonds are considered normal practice for suppliers and contractors participating in largemconstruct
projects, usually of a public nature. In the USA, government agencies in certain states is@meads for bonds to be posted
when certain types of licensing applications are made in those states. As at Decemhizf, 3tie 205A, performance bonds in
the amount of 807 (2019 - $620) were pledged to various government agencies.

PFB Corporation Annual Report 20206



™
PFB
CORPORATION

Better building ideas

10. Financial instruments and financial risks
Fair value of financial instruments

PFB's financial assets and liabilities that are threecorded
categories based upon the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1: Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Fair value is based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model input®bszraadle either directly or
indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3: Fair value is based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable anctsitiréfican
overall fair value masurement.

A summary of the categories and fair values of financial instruments held by PFB as at December 31, 2020 and 2019nare state
the following table. The carrying costs of each financial instrument for each year in the consolidated balaaeesbageal to
their fair values.

2020 2019
Financial instrument Category Measurement  Hierarchy Fair Value Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents Assets at amortized cos Amortized cost Level 1 $ 32,271 $ 20,129
Cash- restricted Assets aamortized cost Amortized cost Level 1 2,033 924
Restricted marketable securitic FVOCI Fair value Level 2 1,483 1,483
Trade receivables Assets at amortized cos Amortized cost N/A 10,692 10,746
Trade and other payables Financial liabilities at
amortized cost Amortized cost N/A (11,661) (10,324)
Financial liabilities at
Long-term debt amortized cost Amortized cost Level 2 (7,856) (8,217)
Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that PFB's cokBaterpar
The Corporation’s exposure to credit risk is assoahledot ed

pay amounts when due. Allowances for doubtful accounts and bad debts are estimated and maintained as at the balance shee
date. The amounts reported for trade receivables on the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful accounts and the net
carrying value represents PFB’s maximum exposure to credi

The Corporation’s subsidiaries provide trade credityisto t
universally adopted across all its businesses. The policyresthe credit history of each new customer to be closely examined
before credit is granted, which may involve performing solvency tests if a particular account is expected to becomat siginifica
is not nor mal pract i c e cdlaberalroesqcurityra®a conditioh af approving trade oredp. iThe diversity
of PFB's customer base and product offering combine to m

Customers ordering highlgustomized manufactured products are requiredake advance payments at various predefined
stages of a sales contract. All payments received in advance of invoicing are reported as contract liabilities unaet the curr
liability section of the balance sheet. Final contract balances are typicallyecttiube paid in full before products are shipped.

Management diligently reviews past due trade receivables balances on a weekly basis to monitor potential credit rigks. Accoun
are considered for impairment on a chgecase basis when they are past duwhen objective evidence is received that a
customer may default. A number of factors are considered in determining the likelihood of impairment. All bad defffswrite

and changes in the doubtful trade receivables reserve are expensed or crealipli;ase, to selling expenses in the

consolidated statement of income.
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PFB believes that credit risk associated with its trade receivables is limited for the following reasons:

1 Trade receivables balances are spread amongst a broad custonvehiblse dispersed across a wide geographic range;
1 The aging profile of trade receivables balances are systematically monitored by management;

1 Larger customers are offered a discount off invoice for prompt payment which is strictly enforced; and

1 Paymentdor highly-customized orders are received in advance of products being shipped.

Potential credit risk associated with contractual holdback amounts pertaining to certain large projects is considengao be |
the customers involved are required to pdevbonding to the owners of the projects. The credit risk on cash balances is limited
because the counterparties are large commercial banks in Canada and the United States.

Payments of interest collected from customers on past due trade receivablesbalzoteded as part of investment income in
the consolidated statement of income.

Foreign currency risk

Currency risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate becaus
changes in foreigexchange rates.

The Corporation operates in both Canada and the United States of America and is exposed to foreign exchange riska arising fr
changes in foreign exchange rates between the two countries. At the present time, the Corporation has aredb ¢kpos

United States dollar, as the prices of most raw materials used in its businesses are denominated in U.S. dollars. Raw materia
supplies denominated in U.S. dollars are usually paid within thirty days or less of receiving actual deliverias,cohisiktent

with industry practices.

Periodically, management may commit to entering into foreign exchange contracts to attempt to protect earnings agelyst relati
shortterm fluctuations in exchange rates. In such cases, management attemptsitfonakel judgements in entering such
transactions but there is a possibility that markets may not respond in ways predicted. To the extent that the Corpestation do
fully hedge its foreign currency e xsubsidiariesare nohable te ardcnatmage r
their selling prices accordingly when exchange rates are moving in an unfavourable direction, the profitability of ts& busine
could be adversely affected. The Corporation does not enter into currency dnixetide financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The Corporation did not hold any foreign exchange contracts as at December 31, 2020.

Historically, the Corporation has mainly financed its USA operations from internal resources with demandroariisaded in
Canadian dollars on which the USA operations is exposed to currency risk. As the exchange rate between the Canadian and U
dollars fluctuated, unrealized gains and losses arising on the loans were recorded in the consolidated statmmeairof in
accordance with IFRS. Foreign exchange gain or losses orsauarent settlements represent transactions between the Canadian
and USA segment are settled on a monthly basis and involve foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risks defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
change in market interest rates.

The Corporation’s interest rate risk i stermdebtiunglaenewd inMarechh a
2022. Management believes that the potential adverse impact of interest rate fluctuations on the current level of borrowings
exposed to interest rate risk will not be significant in relation to its expected future earnings.

As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation’s Canadian.subs
The revolving credit facility has a limit of $17,000 based on marginable trade receivables and inventories and theaeddlving
facilty wasunusedT he Cor poration’s USA subsidiary had access to a
credit facility has a limit of $3,000, based on all inventory and equipment. The revolving credit facility was unusednhebDece

31, 2020.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated withafinanci
liabilities.

The Corporation’s |liquidity ri skeorthatitchnadd soiortly atiasabmoonally kbigh!l e
cost. Accordingly, one of management’'s primary goals is
l'iabilities and cash fl ows ¢gen e rategies dan beyinancpdethroagh e comisinatiorTafi e

cash flows generated by operations, borrowing under existing credit facilities, and the issuance of equity. Manageraent prepar
regular budgets and cash flow forecasts to help predict future changesdityliqu
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11. Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Corporation does not believe it has any off balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely todmve, a cur
or future material effect on its financial condition, results of operatiorgjwdity, other than those disclosed in the balance
sheet as the available portion of credit facilities.

12.Related party transactions

All related party transactions are constituted in the ordinary course of business and they have been measured at the agreed
exchange amounts which approximate fair value. All trans
Board of Directors.

Balances and transactions between the Corporation and its subsidiaries, which are related parties ofatierCtgve been
eliminated on consolidation.

In the years ended December 2020 and 2019, the Corporation had the following transactions with related parties:

Related party Nature of transactions 2020 2019
E. Carruthers Trucking Transportatiorservices $ 1,758 $ 2,168
Aeonian Capital Corporation Management services 370 350

$ 2,128 $ 2,518

The following related party balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting years:

Related party Nature of transactions 2020 2019
E. Carruthers Trucking Transportation services $ 46 $ 75
Aeonian Capital Corporation (“Aeontit29M2,1p8) cormamod sharessefthaf f i | i a

Corporation representing 38.9% (20194.4%) of the 6,797,003 issued and outstanding shares as at December 31, 2020.
Aeonian is controlledy C. Alan Smith, President and Chairman of PFB. The Corporation is charged fees by Aeonian for
management services including those provided by Mr. Smith. The fees are reported under administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of income.

E. Caruthers Trucking is owned by a sibling of a member of the Board of PFB. The transactions have occurred in the normal
course of operations at arm’'s |l ength and are based on st

13. Subsequent events

Declaration of regular quarterly dividend

On February 4, 202 the Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly dividend of $0.10 per common share payable on
February 26, 20p, to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 12, 202

14.Outlook

The Corpor at i 00h2020 excemded Hoth salpsiaad etreings over a strong comparable fourth quarter in 2019,
resulting in both record sales and adjusted EBITDA for a fourth quarter and for a full year. Sales in 2020 were $134,796, an
increase of $1,564 over 2019. Salesagtofor the year was driven by the Canadian Segment showing marginal gains across
multiple product lines and supported by increased demand for geotechnical products used in large infrastructure projects. USA
Segment sales softened on a year over year dagjiowth was constrained due to project delays and schedule changes driven by
macro effects of the ongoing pandemic. However order books have remained strong throughout. Overall, the Corporation
recorded exceptional earnings and solid sales performamcehallenging year that was defined by the COXEDpandemic.

Margin performance in the fourth quarter of 2020 remained strong, contributing to overall full year results. Continued stable
product pricing, lower raw material input costs, improved opagagificiencies and overhead spending controls resulted in a

gross margin of 32.4% for Q4/20 as compared to 28.4% for Q4/19, an increase of 400 basis points. In addition, improved gross
margins and increased selling and administrative spending contratedeis arecord adjusted EBITDA of $8,04@r the

currert quarter, an increase of $1,684er Q4/19. The Corporation set record EBITDA levels in all four quarters of 2020

resulting in a fullyear adjusted EBITDA of $27,2%8 compared to $18,83n 2019,an increase of $9,26dr 51.3%.
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Looking forward, the impact of recent winter storms in the southern United States has interrupted petrochemical production,
tightening North American supply and introducing some unexpected price volatility in the Conmgsratiacipal raw material

input, styrene monomer. This event is expected to affect EPS resin pricing with significant increases across the industry
Management is attentive to the possibility of resin shortages developing as a result of curtaileddastioprdue to a

temporary shortage of styrene across the Texas Gulf Coast. The Corporation issuffisght in its resin requirements. The
Corporation is not experiencing resin shortages at this time. In addémmnt macro inflationary pressariecluding upward

trends in world oil and commodity prices will also put upward pressure on raw material input costs. In response, thoorporat
has increased market prices, implemented revised raw material inventory and procurement strategieswsattitodantprove
operational efficiencies and spending controls realized over the course of 2020 to mitigate the impact on gross margins.

Governments in Canada and the United Sates continue to support various fiscal policies to providd € e\dfedsubsidies,
tax relief and loan programs. The Corporation has not participated in any voluntary government financial aid progresul as a re
of our strong performance to date. The Corporation will continue to review and assess options moving forward.

The orporation has implemented strict employee safety protocols, procedures and practices intended to ensure the health anc
welfare of all our employees, customers, contractors and visitors as well as to support the broader effort to contiaimttieevir
communities in which we o0 p¥pratocels havé preven@doe yery effactive esulting in6cOV I D
material disruptions to our regional operations in 2020. The Corporation acknowledges that as winter weather takebdold and
full impact of COVID-19 variants emerge, the potential for increased transmission rates persist and as such we continue to
review, adapt and improve our COI® protocols.

Looking forward into the first half of 2021, the Corporation continues to experiencengalstimand for our nationally branded
insulation building products and services across North America. Order books remain strong and are building as thertonstructio
industry prepares for the busy spring and summer season. Residential constructiorcaotivityes to show positive signs as

home owners shift from urban centres as well as upgrade existing properties to enhance and increase property valuegl. Comme
and infrastructure construction is also showing signs of strength and is supported Isethg@zernment stimulus spending.
However, as efforts to contain the COVI™-virus are complicated by the emergence of several new variants, general
uncertainty persists and we remain unable to accurately quantify the impact these events will hacesioroars. As

vaccination efforts continue to accelerate across North America there is cause for optimism in the battle to contiad thie spre

the coronavirus.

Our focus is to continue driving profitability and positive cash flows as we enter 202hafance sheet is very strong and
management is confident the Corporation is well positioned. Our geographic footprint and diverse portfolio of builditg produ
and services positions the Corporation to continue providing products and services to tleeaianamd residential construction
sectors, large scale public and private infrastructure projects and various industrial applications.

Management will continue to make every effort to keep our employees safe while providing critical products andsenvices
customers, protecting and supporting the communities in which we operate, increasing value for our shareholders and searchir
for suitable acquisitions to expand our business

15. Disclosure controls and procedures (DC&P)

DC&P are designed to provideasonable assurance that all relevant information is gathered and reported to management,
including, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) on a timely basis so that appropriate
decisions can be made regarding public disafes.

An evaluation of our DC&P was conducted, as at December 31, 2020, by management under the supervision of the CEO and |
CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded that, as at December 31, 2020, our DC&P, as defined il
National Instrument52 09, Certi fi cation of Discl osur el09),waskfiediveer s’ At

Not withstanding the foregoing, no absolute assurances ca
prevent all &ilures of individuals within the organization to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in
reports or news releases issued by the Corporation.
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16. Internal controls over financial reporting

Management is responsible for estabiighand maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial reports forepdging! r
purposes in accordance with IFRS.

All control systems contain inherent limitations, no matter how well designed and operated. As a result, management
acknowl edges that PFB’'s internal controls over financial
fraud. Inaddidb n, management’'s evaluation of controls can provid
issues that may result in material misstatements, if any, have been detected.

As at December 31, 2020, the CEO and CFO, assessed the effectovdness he Cor poration’s intern
reporting and concluded that it was effective.

17.Risk management and assessment

PFB is subject to risks and uncertainties inherent in the operation of its business. Management defines pisksitsilihethat

an event might happen in the future that could negatively affect the financial condition and/or results of operations of the
Corporation. The following section describes specific and general risks that could affect PFB. The Audit Canthitiee

Board of Directors play an important role in developing risk management programs and reviewing and monitoring them on a
qguarterly basis. As it is difficult to predict whether any risk will happen or its related consequences, the actuabaffediof

on PFB’s business could be materially different from ant

The following descriptions of general and specific risks do not include all possible risks, as there may be otheringksfexist
which the Corporation is currently unaware.

17.1 Raw material price and supply

The price of raw materials, specifically, styrene monomer, expandable polystyrene resin, polypropylene copolymers,
oriented strand board, and raw timbers combined represent a significant portion of manufacturing costssin PFB
businesses. Historically, there have been considerable cyclical and other causes of volatility in the price of these materia
which is outside the control of PFB. There are no futures markets for these materials available to PFB, which limits the
ability to lock in prices for fixed periods of time.

PFB may, from timeo-time, build inventories of both raw materials and finished goods which can lead to the assumption
of risk due to an inability to match carrying costs to selling prices under certain fixed price sales contracts. Conversely,
from time b time, PFB may be short of inventory that has been contracted to be delivered under fixed price sales contrac
that can lead to the assumption of risk also due to an inability to match costs to selling prices.

Management continues to explore opportesitio minimize the impact that price swings in purchasing raw materials has
on PFB's earnings. The changing dynamics in the petr o
capacity, petrochemical manufacturing capacity, reliabilitransportation infrastructure and other global events, and
changing dynamics affecting other industries, are difficult to predict. Such changes may create the potential for raw
materi al supply disruptions or sopsatanmsges whi ch woul d

17.2 Economic and market conditions

P F BBusiness is affected by fluctuating economic conditions, consumer confidence and spending, and both the demanc
for and prices of its EPS products and insulating building systems in those geographidalahéas it operates. Volatile
economic conditions generally including but not limited to factors affecting the construction industry (residential and
commercial) such as; the impact of changing mortgage rates and other interest rates may traneiaéz tdembnd for
PFB's products. Such effects may al so adversely affect
including their ability to obtain credit to finance their businesses, which could create uncertainty over the colledtability
trade receivables
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17.3 International Trade

PFBexports some of its products to customers outside Canada and the USA and imports some of its raw materials so th
some inputs are affected by gl obal ceentmisksd, indlugingpchange®eis . |
the free flow of goods between countries; fluctuations in currency values; discriminatory fiscal policies; unexpected
changes in local regulations and laws; and the uncertainty of enforcement of remedies in foreigtignsisth addition,

trade agreements between Canada, the United States and foreign jurisdictions could change with unpredictable results &
foreign jurisdictions could impose tariffs, ngmaidnas, tr
sales. Seemingly, unrelated events such as pandemics or regional health concerns can interrupt the supply of goods an
materials or reduce demand for goods. All of these risks could result in increased costs, decreased revenues, increased
competition, reduced demand or supply chain disruptions any of which could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’'s financial condition and results of operatiol

17.4 Competition

As a market leader in its industry, PFB faces intense and growing campétitm other manufacturers of all sizes located

in both Canada and the United States, new entrants into the markets we serve, along with manufacturers of substitute
competitive product s. Competition c armveruésfaedmndtinddmeB’ s pr i
Competition can also affect PFB’'s ability to retain e
increases the resolve to provide exceptional customer service, quality products, and the need todregatitee.

Management continues to identify ways to grow revenues, manage expenses and increase productivity. This requires
anticipating and responding quickly to the constant changes in its businesses and markets

17.5 Currency

PFB has a net exposure tett.S. dollar which makes it vulnerable to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rate between
the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar. The timing of foreign exchange rate fluctuations between the Canadian dollar an
the U.S. dollar can have a significanted ct on PFB’ s operating results, the €
product mix of sales and raw material purchases.

From timeto-time, management may commit to utilizing derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business
as ameans of management of its foreign currency exposure. Management attempts to make informed judgements in suc
transactions but there is the possibility that markets may respond in ways not predicted. To the extent that PFB does not
fully hedge its foreigkr ur r ency exposure and exchange rate risk, or
selling prices accordingly when exchange rates are moving in an unfavourable direction, the profitability of the business
could be adversely affected.

17.6 Acquisitions

P F Bdrawth strategy includes making strategic acquisitions when possible. There is no assurance that PFB will find
suitable businesses or assets to acquire or that it will have the financial resources needed to complete any acqrésition. T
coud also be challenges integrating the operations of any acquired company with existing operations

17.7 Financing and liquidity

In developing business operations to their full potential, significant capital and operating expenditures may be required ot
an ongong basis. PFB has historically generated sufficient cash flow from its operations to fund its capital expenditure
requirements, repay financing obligations, and maintain regular dividend payments. Future development of new products
and t he gr busitessthroligh RtErBal expansion or by acquisitions may depend on access to external

financing. PFB’'s cash position and existing cretdrint f ac
needs. There is no guarantee that financingfof ut ur e expansion of PFB’'s operati
if required

17.8 Reputation
Negative publicity regarding PFB’'s business practices

affect PFB’' s coudmaftett astopemtions, custoimershand share value. PFB manages reputational risk by
placing the utmost importance on corporate governance and full and fair disclosure. Good corporate governance practice
emanates from an effective board of directer& B’ s board of directors and its bo
competently perform the role of overseeing the appropt
thelongt er m val ue of PFB. A det pairdteggavermancepnacticgs cam betfdund mithe gostP F
recent Management Information Circular
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17.9 Trade credit

PFB' s subsidiaries provide trade credit to their cust
universally adopted across its businesses. The policy requires the credit history of each new customer to be closely
examined before credi granted, which may include performing solvency tests if a particular account is expected to
become significant. Management diligently reviews past due trade receivables on a weekly basis which helps minimize
credit risk. The @andeustamertbgse alsb helpdniBrinsze theccteditvisk toiwlich it may be

exposed.

17.10Environmental considerations
Environment al i ssues are gaining in importance gl oball
responsibly managinipe direct and indirect impact it has on the environment, including in its manufacturing processes,
di sposal and reuse of waste, transportation of product

contribute to reducing energy usedaeduce greenhouse gas emissions. PFB believes that it is in substantial compliance
with applicable environmental laws in jurisdictions where it has operations. PFB takes custody of hazardous materials
when the goods physically arrive at its facilities

17.11Climate Change

Climate change may pose risks to the operations of the Corporation, both known and unknown, which may adversely aff
PFB's business, financi al position, financi al perfor me

Some of the Corporatin’ s operations activities may emit greenhous
emissions regulations and possibly increased costs. Climate change policy is evolving at regional, national and
international levels and political and economicrégemay significantly affect the scope and timing of responsive

measures. Direct or indirect costs of compliance with climate change related regulations, additional taxes, restrictions on
ability to acquire materials and other costs may have a matereisadeffect on the Corporation. The Corporation

believes it is in substantial compliance with all such regulations.

Climate change has been suggested as being linked to extreme weather conditions such as unusually hot and cold weat

heavy snowfallL hegv r ai n, wil dfires, flooding and other events
cause operational difficulties, including damage to machinery and facilities and possibly the risk of injury to personnel.
Extreme weather conditonsmhye ad t o di sruptions in the Corporation’'s
products to customer s. | mpacts of <c¢climate change or e»

customers and suppliers.

17.12Information technology

PFB relies on information technology in conducting its businesses. This involvelsageld connections, access to secure,
centrally located servers and databases, and maintaining existing applications and implementing new applications. The
security and safpiarding of information technology assets and protocols will continue to be increasingly important to PFB.
PFB manages its exposure to I.T. risks by continuously reviewing its access and application controls, performing disaster
recovery testing, locatinigs backbone I.T. assets in an indudegding secure offsite location, and hiring and training
specialist employees with respect to the protection and use of I.T. assets and related intellectual property. Failure in the
completeness, accuracy, availabiy or security of PFB’'s information syst
affect its operations and financial results. Correspondingly, computer virusesatigods, security breaches, unforeseen
natural disasters and related events sruglitions could result in information systems failures that may adversely affect
PFB’'s operations and financi al results

17.13Cyber Security

PFB relies on information technology and information systems in all area of operations. These systems are subject to an
increasing number of sophisticated cyber threats. The methods used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade
service or sabotagg/stems are constantly evolving. A successful incursion or -@tterk may result in a breach of
sensitive information or systems being disrupted, poss
ability to achieve strategic objiees.

17.14Seasonality and climatic factors affecting the construction industry

Due to the seasonal nature of the constructi oryquarterust r
basis. Typically, sales are weakest in the firstfandth quarters of the year and strongest in the second or third quarters.
Sales in any quarter can be significantly influenced by weather patterns, particularly the timing of when winter begins and
ends and its severity.
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17.15Plant and facilities

PFB operate a number of manufacturing facilities across North America, most of which operate at or near capacity for
significant portions of the year. Any disruption to operations at any plant and facility arising from naturaroadean

causes such as fire, floodbour disputes, interferences with access or egress, or other events, could have a material impa
on PFB and its business operations.

17.16Employee future benefits

A defined benefit pensi on pl -hasedémployeeswitotamembejs oféhe Urstads f o r
Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied industrial and Service Workers International union. Thq
latest accounting valuation of the Plan calculated in accordance with IAS 19 was completed as at Dec20#feiaBd, it
identified that the Plan had a net asset arising from a defined benefit assetidifedBcompared to defined benefit asset of
$304 at the end of the 2@Icomparative year. Throughout2® PFB was not required to make any payment contritgition

into the funded plarandin 2019, PFB made both normal service and special payment contributions to the Plan. The actual
rate of return on plan assets and changes in interest
requiremer for the Plan. The Plan assets are not immune to market fluctuations and, as a result, PFB may be required tt
make additional cash contributions in future.

PFB operates group 401K plans for all qualifying employees located in Minnesota, Michigan, N&hiadand Idaho,

USA, in which qualifying employees may elect to defer current wages for retirement. PFB has the option to match
employee contributions to the plans. The assets of the plan are held separately from those of PFB by a trust company the
gowverned by a custodial agreement (ERISA). PFB also utilizes the services of registered investment brokers and third pat
administrators in the fulfilment of its actuarial and fiduciary responsibilities with respect to the plans.

17.17Human resources

P F B’ s sslependsasthe abilities, experience, engagement, and succession of its management teams. The loss of k
empl oyees through either attrition or retirement coul
results. PFB attempts to mitigethese risks by offering competitive compensation and benefits packages, training,
succession planning, and providing a positive and diverse cultural environment.

17.180ff-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Operating Leases

PFB does not believe it has any off biala sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or
future material effect on its financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity, other than those disclosed emttee bal
sheet as the available portion of credit lities.

17.19Internal and Disclosure Controls

Ineffective internal controls over financial reporting or inadequate disclosure controls could result in an increasad risk of
material misstatement in financial reporting and public disclosures. In accordangriidélines adopted for publicly

traded companies in Canada, PFB assesses the effectiveness of its internal and disclosure controls-dgimg, aisép

based approach in which both qualitative and quantitative measures are considered. An interhaystamtrono matter

how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance to management and the Bozc
of Directors regarding the achievement of resul liasce PFE
on key personnel across the Company to perform a variety of control functions which include performing reviews, analysi
reconciliations and monitoring. The undetected failure of individuals performing such functions or implementing controls
asdesgned could adversely.impact PFB's financi al result

17.20Volatility of Market Share Price

The mar ket price of PFB’'s common shares may be volatil
variations in financial results, general marketditons and other unpredictable events or factors. Consequently, broad
mar ket fluctuations or the failure of PFB's financi al
adversely affect the market price of its common shares.

18. Critical accounting judgements and estimates

I n the application of the Corporation’s accounti ndortipeol i c
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, management is required to makatgjdggtimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on a combination of historica
experience, available knowledge of current conditions, and other factors that arerednsidee reasonable and relevant under

the circumstances. Actual costs and outcomes may significantly differ from these estimates and assumptions.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accountisgestireignized
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision ayehfstifre
the revision affects both current and future years.

The following are the key assumptions concernimgfthiure and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at the end of the
reporting year, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets andvithilities
the next financial year.

18.1 Revenue Recognition

IFRS 15 requires management to make judgments and estimates. Judgement relates to the identification of performanc
obligations in each contract. Some contracts with customers include a bundled set of goods and services and judgemer
required to deterine the goods and services that are distinct performance obligations. Judgement is required to determi
any level of integration and any interdependency between goods and services entered with customers. Allocation of the
transaction price to different germance obligations may require estimates. In instances where information is incomplete
or not available, determination of selling prices include market conditions and other observable inputs such as the scop:
of work and geographic region.

Judgementsral estimates are also required to determine an appropriate measure of progress and pattern of delivery whi
determining how control of promised goods or services transfers to a customer.

Estimates of incentives or rebates are updated regularly as infemrbatomes available and only to the extent that the
variable consideration is constrained.

18.2 Remaining performance obligations

Many factors may lead to a change during a contract performance period, which can result in a change to contract
profitability from one financial reporting period to another. Some of the factors that can change the contract revenue
include differing site conditions, the availability of skilled labour, the performance of subcontractors, unusual weather an
the accuracy of original odracts. Judgements are required of factors that may impact remaining, unsatisfied performance
obligations. Estimates are required to determine the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied, or [ty unsatisfied, as at the end of each reporting period. Judgement is also required
to determine the timing of when unsatisfied performance obligations will become realized as revenue in future periods.

183 Cashgenerating unit (ACGUO)

Determination of whiclassets constitutes a CGU is subject to management judgeAisntshe asset composition of a

CGU can directly impact the recoverability of assets included théFbmrecoverable amount of a CGU is assessed at the
CGU level and is the higherofthe CGW f air value | ess ¢ osAGGUamayhdimpapens a |
when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Key assumptions used for the value in use calculations are <
out inNote 17 of the audited consolidated financiatestnents for the year ended December 31, 2020.

18.4 Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of thgenasating unit(s) to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculatiofiresquanagement to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cagénerating unit and determining a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value

In the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, no impairment of goodwilcegsized. Notwithstanding, reasonable
changes in one or more of the variable assumptions or the discount rate used to estimate the present value of future ca
flows could have a bearing on the valuation outcomes and conclusions.

18.5 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Determining whether tangible and intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of {imeussded the CGUSs to
which they have been allocated. The valise calculation requires management to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate to be determined in order to calculate present value.

In the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, no impairment of tangible and intangible assets was recognized.
Notwithstanding, reasonabtfianges in one or more of the variable assumptions or the discount rate used to estimate the
present value of future cash flows could have a bearing on the valuation outcomes and conclusions.
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18.6

18.7

18.8

18.9

Valuation of inventories

Management reviews the carrying amount of finished goods inventories at the end of each reporting year and the record
amount is adjusted to the lower of cost or net realizable value. As part of the review, management is required to make
certain assumpins when determining expected realizable amounts.

An inventory reserve is maintained for slomoving raw materials and woik-progress inventories. The value of stow
moving inventories is based on man agg eusteas tleteeminaddyg hisworicahe n t
usage and estimated future demand. Any widens in value may be reversed if the circumstances which caused them no
longer exist.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Amounts included in allowance for doubtful accounts refiketlifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables.
Management determines allowances based on best estimates of future expected credit losses, considering historical cre:
loss experience, current economic conditions, and forecasts of futurearécaomditions. Significant or unanticipated

changes in economic conditions could impact the magnitude of future expected credit losses. The value of the allowance
for doubtful accounts reserve typically tracks the seasonality trend of trade receivpbtafic &eserves may be created

for individual customers in exceptional circumstances. Bad debts are written off against the reserve.

Income taxes

The Corporation is subject to income taxes in both Canada and the USA. When preparing current and éxpeedevat

the end of each reporting year, management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions regarding the timing
when temporary differences will reverse and tax rates that will be in force at that time. Unknown future events and
circumsances, such as changes in tax rates and laws, may materially affect the assumptions and estimates made from c
year to the next and thereby affect the consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of retirement benefits

Postemployment benefits are acetead for on an actuarial basis. The Corporation engages the services of an independent
actuary to perform valuations of the Corporation’s def
thereon. For inclusion in the valuation, managensergquired to make certain assumptions including an appropriate
discount rate and the estimated return of plan assets. The estimates are reviewed for reasonableness by the actuary. DL
the nature of the assumptions made and used in the valuatioessttiee potential for fluctuations of a material nature in

the value of the defined benefits in future years.

18.10 Property, plant and equipment

The Corporation estimates the useful life of property plant and equipment that it owns or is held under bdeateall

useful life of assets and components of assets could vary significantly from the estimated useful lives used in determining
periodic depreciation expense. Management reviews the useful lives of the assets at least annually to ensure that expec
and actual lives are as closely aligned.

18.11 Valuations performed during a business combination

The Corporation makes judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the quantitative and qualitative valuation of
business combinations. These may includeneg#s of future cash flows and working capital requirements; potential
acquisition synergies; costs to complete the transaction; the value of contingent consideration; strategic direction;
management effectiveness, and operating efficiencies. Fair vaissets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination is estimated based on information available at the date of acquisition and involves considerable judgment in
determining the fair values assigned to acquired intangible assets, landfypnapet and equipment, and other assets,

and the liabilities assumed on acquisition. Unknown future events and changes in assumptions and estimates may impa
future cash flows and materially impact the valuation of each business combination.

18.12 Share-basedpayment arrangements

The compensation costs relating to skHaased payment arrangements are based on estimates of how many common share
will actually vest and be exercised.

18.13 Leases

IFRS 16 requires management to make judgements and estimateteirto determine the value of the riglituse assets
and the lease liabilities. Judgements may relate to the identification of a lease in a contract and the determination of the
lease term and whether an extension or termination option in a lease exélrised.
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Estimates may relate to the lease term, separation of lease atghsertomponents and the determination of the
appropriate discount rates.

18.14 Impacts of COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandeltoiwving the emergence and rapid spread of a
novel strain of the coronavirus ("COVIIR"). This has resulted in North American governments enacting emergency
measures to combat the spread of the virus. These measures include social distancing nieatatiole of travel bans,

and closures of neassential businesses, which have caused material disruptions to businesses globally. The production
and sales of building materials have been recognized as an essential service acrosan@dahadaSAThe Caporation
continues to experience demand for its products and services and has not experienced significant disruptions in its
operations. The Corporation continues to effectively operate, conduct commercial activities and execute on projects with
focus m health, safety and reliability. As at December 31, 2020, we have not observed any material impairments of asset
or significant changes in the fair value of assets, due to the CQYIZandemic.

The situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration andnihade of the impact of COVIEL9 on the economy and the

financial effect on our operations, financial position and financial performance, remain unknown at this time. It will depenc
on future developments that are uncertain and unpredictable, includidgréiemn and spread of COVAHD9, its continued

impact on a macrscale and any new information that may emerge concerning the severity of the virus. These uncertaintie
may persist beyond when it is determined how to contain the virus or treat its ifffpacutbreak presents uncertainty and

risk with respect to the Corporation, its performance, and estimates and assumptions used by management in the
preparation of its financial results. In addition, it is possible that estimates in the financial statmsné&hchange in the

near term as a result of COVAD® and the effect of any such changes could be material, which could reanibimgother

things, impairment of assets. The Corporation is closely monitoring the impact of the pandemic on alb#pects

business

19. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSS)

19.1 New and revised accounting standards affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements

The Corporation has applied a number of new and revised IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“I AsB”) that are mandatorily effective for an account

1 Amendments to IFRS 3- Business combingons
The amendments proviadarificationon the definition of a business

1 Amendments to IAS 1- Presentation of financial statementnd IAS 8 - Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors

The amendment®fine thedefinition of materal.

1 Amendments to IFRS 9- Financial instrumentsand IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: disclosure$ Phase 1
The amendmentaddress issues affecting financial reporting in the period leading up to IBOR reform.

1 Amendments to IFRS 16- Leases

The amendments address isstgtated to the accounting for lease concessions that are a direct consequence of
COVID-19.

The Corporation has determined that the amendments had no material impact on the disclosures or on amounts recogni.
in the annual @nsolidated financial statements.

19.2 New and revised accounting standards and interpretations, not yet effective

The | ASB and I nternational Financi al Reporting Interpr
standards, amendments and inteigdiehs that have not been applied in prepared these consolidation financial statements a
their effective or early adoption dates fall within annual periods beginning subsequent to the current reporting period. The
new standards and amendments availabteutih early adoption are as follows:

T Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instrumentsand IFRS 7- Financial instruments: disclosure$ Phase 2
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The amendmenigrovide targeted accounting relief and new disclosure requirements to ease the adoption of a new
bendimark rate as a result of IBOR reform. The Corporation does not use IBORs as benchmark rates and does not
anticipate any impact from this amendment.

20.Non-IFRS Financial Measures

The Corporation uses measurements primarily based on IFRS as issued by the IASB and also certain sectfi@8ry non

measurements.

The norIFRS measures used by the Corporation are considered to be useful as complimentary measures in assessing the

Corporation’s

f i n dARS meaduremeats do aat e @ standardidenl meaning prescribed by IFRS and, as

such, are unlikelyo be comparable in definition to similar measures presented by other companies.

The definitions of nolFRS measurements used in this MD&A can be found in the section below:

Measure
Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA per share

Non-cash working capital

Book value

Gross profit margin
Operating margin

Net income margin
Current ratio
Return on equity

Definition

Represents earnings before interest, tagtepreciation and amortization. Adjusted
EBITDA is an absolute measure of our operating performance and provides an
indication of the results generated by our business activities prior to how the activ
are financed, how assets are depreciated andiaath or how results are taxed.

Adjusted EBITDA divided by the basic weighted average number of shares outsta
in the period.

A financial measure to monitor how much capital we have committdtetdayto-day
operations of our business. Noash working capital represents current assets
(excluding cash or cash equivalents, restricted cash and income taxes recoverabl
current liabilities (excluding income taxes payable, current portioreasélobligations
and current portion of lonrgerm debt).

Sharehol der s
December 31 each year.

equity divided by the

Gross profit divided by sales, expressed as a percentage.

Gross profit less selling expenses, administrative expenses and other gains (losse¢
divided by sales.

Net income divided by sales.
Current assets divided by current liabilities.

A financial measure used to assist in analyzing shareholder value. Net income for
year divided by opening sharehol ders

The following table shows the reconciliation of net income to adjusted EBITDA and related per share amounts for the years

ended December 31:

2020 2019 2018

Net income
Add back (deduct):

$ 16,420 $ 9,026 $ 6,170

Income taxes 5,379 3,410 2,313
Finance costs 1,123 1,163 1,281
Investment income (65) (119) (67)
Depreciation 4,292 4,400 4,612
Amortization 150 158 132
Adjusted EBITDA $ 27,299 $ 18,038 $ 14,441
Adjusted EBITDA per share $ 4.05 $ 2.68 $ 2.15
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The following table shows the reconciliation of quarterly net income to quarterly adjusted EBITDA andpetatbdre amounts
for each of the quarters in 2020 and 2019:

2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019 2019
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Qs Q2 Q1

Net income (loss)
(As per financial statements) $4,993 $7,331 $3,750 $346 $3,695 $3,442 $3,061 $(1,172)

Add back (deduct):

Income taxes (recovery) 1,703 2,371 1,125 180 1,302 1,254 906 (52)
Finance costs 273 278 282 290 287 288 293 295
Investment income (10) 5) 4 (46) (47) (44) (5) (23)
Depreciation 1,048 1,053 1,089 1,102 1,080 1,095 1,119 1,106
Amortization 40 37 36 37 46 45 36 31
Adjusted EBITDA 8,047 11,065 6,278 1,909 6,363 6,080 5,410 185

Adjusted EBITDA per share  $1.18 $1.64 $094 $029 $095 $090 $0.80 $0.03

Adjusted EBITDA was $8,047 in the three month period ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $1,684 from $6,363 in the
comparative threenonth period of 2019.

Adjusted EBITDA for the twelve month peri@gt a record highf $27,299scompared to the adjted EBITDA of $18,038 in
the 2019 comparative year, or an increase of $9,261. The increased adjusted EBITDA is reflective of higleenefeom
additionalsaleslower raw material input costs aimdprovedoperating efficiencies.

B~

Robert Graham Mirko Papuga
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
March 11, 2021 March 11, 2021
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Management's Report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of PFB Corporation and all information itietueliedsthe
responsibility of the manageent of the Corporation and hlasen reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors upon
recanmendation by the Audit Committee.

Management has prepared the consolidated financial statements based on the information available and in accordance with

I nternational Financi al Reporting Standardsdg¢ “BeE®Sd) (aBAS
The consolidated financial statements and other financial information have been prepared using the accounting policies
described in Note 2 to the consolidated financi asedant at e me
available information. Financial information presented throughout this report is consistent with data presented in the
consolidated financial statements.

PFB Corporation maintains systems of internal controls in order to provide reasonable aghatathe consolidated financial
statements are accurate and complete in all material respects. These systems include established policies and procedures, the
selection and training of gliked personnel, and an orgaatmon structure providing for apprdate delegation of authority

and segregation of responsibilities.

The Board of Directors discharges its duties related to the consolidated financial statements by reviewing and approving
financial information prepared by management and through thetiestiof its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee, made
up offive unrelated and independent directors, meets with management and its responsibilities include reviewing the
consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee also meets wiftotherat o nndependent auditors to discuss the
audit approach, and the results of their audit examination prior to recommending approval of the consolidated financial
statements to thBoard ofDirectors.

In 2020, the Corporation underwent a change in audittr.e s har ehol der s’ SKPMGE B, dave ext er n
audited the consolidated financial statemeastat and for the year ended December 31, 202@,cordance witlCanadian
Generally Accepted Auditing St aanditcg Detbitel LPTChatersdiPeofessibnall d er s’
Accountantsaudited the consolidated financial statemeastat and for the year ended December 31, 20 &cordance with

Canadian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. Their independent reports thigtioepe of their examinations and

opinions on the consolidated financial statements andrasentedherein

B~

Robert Graham Mirko Papuga

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
March 11, 2021 March 17, 2021
Calgary, Alberta Calgary, Alberta
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KPMG

KPMG LLP 205 5th Avenue SW
Suite 3100

Calgary AB T2P 4B9

Tel (403) 691-8000

Fax (403) 691-8008
www.kpmg.ca

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS6 REPORT

To the Shareholders of PFB Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PFB Corporation (the Entity), which comprise:

91 the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2020

91 the consolidated statement of income for the year then ended

1l the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended

11 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

11 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

1 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies
(Hereinafter referred to as the fAfinancial statementso;

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2020, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those st aodat Bespolsibiitiesf farrtheher de
Audit of the Financial Statementsd0 s ec biuon aafébort.or s 0

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. These matters were addressed in the
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context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our
audi torsd report.

Revenue - the determination of progress for performance obligations in design
build construction contracts

Description of the matter

We draw attention to Notes 2.4 and 3.1 to the financial statements. The Entity recognises revenue for
construction contracts over time or at a point in time, depending on the nature of the performance obligation.
When recognizing revenue over time, the amount of revenue recognized is determined based on the extent
of progress towards completion of the performance obligations. Judgements and estimates are required to
determine an appropriate measure of progress and pattern of delivery when determining how control of
promised goods or services transfer to a customer and to determine progress towards completion of the
performance obligations in design build construction contracts.

Why the matter is a key audit matter

We identified the determination of progress for performance obligations in design build construction
contracts as a key audit matter. Significant auditor judgment was required to evaluate the extent of progress
towards completion of the performance obligations in design build construction contracts.

How the matter was addressed in the audit
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter:

fwe inspected a selection of contracts with customers
obligations, the allocation of the transaction price to performance obligations and methods determined for
measuring progress towards completion of performance obligations.

9 We developed an expectation for the amount of revenue to be recognized at December 31, 2020 for a
selection of design build contracts and compared this to the amount recognized by the Entity for these
contracts.

ff'we evaluated the Entityds ability to estimate total c
projects completed in 2020 to prior period estimates.

9 We evaluated estimates of total costs for a selection of design build contracts by comparing the estimate
to historical results of similar contracts and to actual costs incurred subsequent to December 31, 2020, and
by inspecting the design build contract.

9 We obtained an understanding of contract performance, including project performance subsequent to
December 31, 2020, through inquiry with project personnel.

Other Matter i Comparative Information

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on March 12, 2020.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises:

f the information included in Managemento6és Discussion and Analysi s
Securities Commissions.

1 the information, other than the financial statements and the auditorso report thereon, included in a
document I|ikely to be entitled AAnnual Reporto.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other
information appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained the information included in Management 6s
filed with the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditorséreport. If, based on

the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of

this other information, we are required to report that

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

I n preparing the financi al statement s, management i s
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations,

or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governancearer e sponsi bl e for overseeing the Entityéo
Auditors6Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditorséreport that includes
our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

11 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

9 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Entity's internal control.

91 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
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1l Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors6report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditorsdreport. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

9 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

9 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

9 Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

91 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

9 Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditorséreport unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our auditorsoreport because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit rewvgandert i ng i n

Chartered Professional Accountants

Calgary, Canada
March 11, 2021

t
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ConsolidatedBalance Sheets
As at December 32020 and 2019
Thousands o€anadiardollars

Note December 31, 2020 December 31, 201!
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 $ 32,271 $ 20,129
Cash-restricted 9 2,033 924
Trade receivables 10 10,692 10,746
Inventories 11 10,061 11,598
Prepaid expenses 546 469
Contract costs 12 732 487
Total current assets 56,335 44,353
Non-current assets
Marketable securitiesrestricted 24 1,483 1,483
Property, plant and equipment 14 33,400 35,030
Right-of-use assets 15 6,287 7,391
Intangible assets 16 1,410 1,540
Goodwill 17 2,241 2,275
Accrued defined benefit pension plan 18 37 304
Deferredincometax assets 7 313 327
Total non-current assets 45,171 48,350
Total assets $ 101,506 $ 92,703
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 $ 11,661 $ 10,324
Contract liabilities 19 7,719 5,943
Income taxes payable 7 1,999 1,469
Long-term debt 20 373 361
Lease obligations 21 1,161 1,167
Total current liabilities 22,913 19,264
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 20 7,483 7,856
Lease obligations 21 7,734 8,679
Deferredincometax liabilities 7 1,410 1,260
Total non-current liabilities 16,627 17,795
Total liabilities 39,540 37,059
SHAREHOL DEQUSTY
Common shares 23 22,014 21,012
Equity-settled employee benefits reserve 125 1,014
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,219 3,138
Retained earnings 37,608 30,480
Sharehol dersbd equity 61,966 55,644
Totall i abilities aquity s ha $ 101,506 $ 92,703

Commitmentsand contingencies (e 26).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board of Directors

Ao

C. Alan Smith

Executive Chairman & Director

i,

Gordon G. Tallman
Director
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For theyearsendedDecembel, 2020 and 2019
Thousands o€anadian dollars, except per share amounts
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Note 2020 2019

Sales 5 $ 134,796 $ 133,232
Cost of sales 11 (92,087) (98,404)
Gross profit 42,709 34,828
Selling expenses (11,971) (12,514)
Administrative expenses (8,074) (7,742)
Othergains (losses) 6 128 (1,092)
Operating income 22,792 13,480
Investmenincome 65 119
Insurance claim gain 65 -
Financecosts (1,123) (1,163)
Income before taxes 21,799 12,436
Incometax expense 7 (5,379) (3,410)
Net incomefor the year $ 16,420 $ 9,026
Earnings per share- $ per share

Basic 8 $ 2.44 $1.34

Diluted 8 $ 2.37 $ 131
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Basic 8 6,733,022 6,720,859

Diluted 8 6,923,928 6,907,535

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Note 2020 2019
Net income for theyear $ 16,420 $ 9,026
Other comprehensive(loss)income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Exchange differences on translating foreign operatieiof tax (770) (1,180)
(770) (1,180)
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to income:
Defined benefit pension plan valuation change
Unrealized (lossyjain on valuation change, net of tax (149) 166
(149) 166
Other comprehensivessfor the year (919) (1,014)
Comprehensive incomdor the year $ 15,501 $ 8,012

All comprehensive income in each year is attributable taliageholders of the Corporation.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statemerd of Changes in Equity PFB
As at December 32020 and 2019 Betron ES;Z.Z; o
Thousands o€anadiardollars except number of shares

Common shares Accumulated other comprehensive income
Equity - Foreign Unrealized Defined benefit
settled currency gain on pension plan
employee translation financial valuation
Number Share  benefits adjustments, assets change, Retained
Note of shares capital reserve net of taxes  net of taxes net of taxes  earnings Total
Balances at January 1, 209 6,716,003 $ 20,947 $ 44 $ 3,816 $ 406 $ (70) $ 30,866 $ 56,009
Net incomefor theyear - - - - - - 9,026 9,026
Other comprehensivimcomefor theyear, net of tax - - - (1,180) - 166 - (1,014)
Total comprehensivimcomefor theyear - - - (1,180) - 166 9,026 8,012
Payment of dividends 23 - - - - - - (9,044)  (9,044)
Sharebased payment - - 990 - - - - 990
Shares repurchased pursuant to normal course issuer bl 23 (50,000) (157) - - - - (368) (525)
Shares issued on exercise of stock options 23 25,000 222 (20) - - - - 202
Balance atDecember 31 2019 6,691,003 21,012 1,014 2,636 406 96 30,480 55,644
Net incomefor theyear - - - - - - 16,420 16,420
Othercomprehensive lodsr theyear, net of tax - - - (770) - (149) - (919)
Total comprehensivemcomefor theyear - - - (770) - (149) 16,420 15,501
Payment of dividends 23 - - - - - - (9,292) (9,292)
Sharebased payment - - 62 - - - - 62
Shares issued on exerciseredtricted share units 23 100,000 950 (950) - - - - -
Shares issued on exercise of stock options 23 6,000 52 1) - - - - 51
Balance at December 312020 6,797,003 $ 22,014 $ 125 $ 1,866 $ 406 $(53) $ 37,608 $ 61,966

Theaccompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Note 2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year $ 16,420 $ 9,026
Adjustments for
Depreciation expense 14,15 4,292 4,400
Amortization expense 16 150 158
(Gain) losson disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,14 (49) 11
Defined benefit pension plan - (50)
Finance costs 1,123 1,163
Investment income (65) (119)
Income taxexpense 7 5,379 3,410
Sharebased payment expense 62 990
Insurance claim gain (65) -
Unrealized éreign exchangmsses 6 65 12
Changes in nogash working capital 27 4,382 1,178
Unrealized frogledtginge gxttchwmoki ng 1 11
Cash from operating activities, before income taxes 31,695 20,190
Income taxes paid, net (4,585) (2,653)
Net cash from operating activities 27,110 17,537
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Decrease) increase in restricted cash balance (1,109) 423
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (1,547) (1,885)
Purchase of intangible assets 16 (45) (317)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 67 47
Interestreceived 65 119
Net cashused ininvesting activities (2,569) (1,613)
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of lease obligations 21, 22 (1,156) (1,157)
Repayment of longerm debt 20, 22 (361) (351)
Finance costs (1,123) (1,163)
Proceeds from insurance 65 -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 51 202
Payment for busback of common shares - (525)
Dividends paido shareholders 23 (9,292) (9,044)
Net cash used in financing activities (11,816) (12,038)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents, an
. . . . (583) (701)
restricted cash held in foreign currencies
Netincreasein cash and cash equivalents 12,142 3,185
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 20,129 16,944
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 32,271 $ 20,129

The accompanying notes areiategral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements I:p oFg
For the yeargendedDecember 312020 and 2019 Better building ideas

Thousands of Canadian dollars

1. Generalinformation

PFB Cor por attihoen “(CoPFpBoGamatian public tompamycorporated under the Alberta Business
Corporations Act and has its heaffice in Calgary, Alberta, Canaddi.h e Cor por at i on’losatedat30p,0r at e
2891 sunridge Way NE, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T1Y7/K The Cor poration’s shares are
Stock Exchange (“ TS XTheprincipd business laaivitystfe r@brpotatiois FnBnufacturing

insulating building productsmadefrom expanded polystyrene materials and marketing these products in North America.

The Corporatioh s w-ovenédl sybsidiariesperate manufacturing facilities asdles operations in the provinces of
British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba @ndario in Canada, and in the StatedefsadaMinnesota,
Michigan, ldaho and Ohio, USA.

2. Significant accounting policies
2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financiaj Reportin
Standards (“1I FRS")

2.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments and contingencies which are valued at fair value through profit or loss. Historicatjenstadly
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistetitey preparation of the consolidated financial
statements foall years presented

Salesofthe Copr ati on’ s products are driven by consumer and

products. The timing of customers’ construction proj
prevailing economic climate and weather. Seasonalty construction results i n dem:
products to be typically stronger in the second and third quarters and less strong in the first and fourth quarters of its
fiscal cycle.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Corporation has control. The Corporation controls an entity when it is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through itpower over the entityl he consolidated financial statements incorporate the accofititge
Corporation andts subsidiaries (entities controlled by the Corporatigifi)subsidiaries are wholkpwned by the
Corporation Note 29).

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
2.4 Revenue Recognition

The Corporation enters into contracts to supply various goods, services or combinations of goods and services,
which are capable ofding distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. Revenue is recognized
when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with customer are satisfied; generally this occurs with
the transfer of control of products or servicesnttol transfers to customers upon shipment or delivery of goods to

the destination and upon delivery of services. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Corporation
expects to receive in exchange for transferring goods or providing serikieeenue is reduced for variable

consideration attributable to customer returns, customer rebates and similar allowances. Sales, excise, and other
taxes are excluded from revenue.

2.4.1 Manufactured goods

Revenue from contracts to provide manufactureads is recognized at the transfer of control, which occurs
upon shipment or delivery, in accordance with the terms of the contract. When contracts contain multiple
performance obligations, the Corporation allocates the transaction price to each pedarbigyation
identified in the contract. Revenue is recognized when each performance obligation is achieved.
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Thousands of Canadian dollars

A portion of the Corporation’s sales take place on
inventory to customer locations thatshaot yet been purchased. The revenue from these sales is recognized
when the customer purchases the inventory.

2.4.2 Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of services includes design, advisory and installation services. Revenue from
contractsa provide services is recognized when or as the services are provided in accordance with the
performance obligations of the contract. The method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
performance obligations over time is determined usingtitput method. When contracts include a
combination of services, the Corporation allocates the transaction price to each service performance
obligation and revenue is recognized as each distinct performance obligation is delivered.

2.4.3 Freight
Freight ®rvices beyond normal freight terms incur charges that are recognized as freight revenues.
2.4.4 Construction contracts

Construction contracts include performance obligations for the construction of an asset or to supply a
bundled combination of productadservices, such as full design build services and the Total Home
Solution®. As performance obligations are achieved, revenue is recognized over time or at a point in time,
depending on the nature of the performance obligation. When recognizing reventiene, the amount of
revenue recognized is determined based on the extent of progress towards completion of the performance
obligations.

When acting as principal for design, advisory, installation, engineering or other work, the Corporation
recognizesevenue on a gross basis.

When total costs to be incurred on a contract exceed the total estimated revenue to be earned, a provision for
the entire loss on the contract is recognized in the period the loss is determined.

Contract modifications that occare accounted for as if they were part of the existing contract and are
recognized as a cumulative adjustment to revenue.

2.4.5 Other revenue types

Revenue from the sale of other goods or services not listed above is generally ancillary and is recognized
when control is transferred, typically on the delivery of the product or service to the customer. These
revenues include the sale of scrap material, digital media subscriptions and other revenue types.

2.4.6 Contract costs

Costs the Corporation would niedve incurred if a contract had not been obtained and which are expected to
be recovered, are included in other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet as contract costs. The
deferred contract costs are reduced over the life of a contract inrfioopto the completion of those

performance obligations.

2.4.7 Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities include cash consideration received as a deposit at the beginning of certain contracts.
Contract liabilities are reduced as performance obligatioaschieved. The Corporation has determined
there are no significant financing components with customers.

Contract liabilities also include variable consideration for customer volume rebates and are accounted for
using the ‘“most | ikely amount met hod.

The operating cycle, or duration, of some construction contracts may exceed an annual year. All contract
liabilities are classified as current as they are expected to be realized or satisfied within the normal operating
cycle of the contract.

Refer to No¢ 12— Contract costs, Note9 — Contract liabilities and Not&3 — Remaining performance
obligations, for further information.

41 PFB Corporation Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements !:p oFg
For the yearendedDecember 312020 and 2019 Better building ideas
Thousands of Canadian dollars

2.4.8 Investmentincome

Interest income from a financial asset is recogghiwhen it is probable that the economic benefits will flow

to theCorporationand the amount of income can be measured reliatibrestincome is accrued on a time

basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash rectiptsigh the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset's net carryirgmount on initial recognition.

2.5 Cash and cash equivalentsand restricted cash

Cashandcash equivalentsonsist of cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, othertetrorhighly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Restricted cashomprises cash collected from certain customers of the USA segment which is contractually
segregated from other cash as it is lslkbly for disbursements to supplgeand service providers specific to those
customer’'s contracts.

2.6 Inventories

Inventories, which comprise raw materials and supplies, Awvegrogressand finished products, astatedat the

lower of cost and net realizable value. Gastinventories ar@redominantlydetermined using the weighted average
costmethod and includgthe cost ofpurchasethe cost of conversion (labour and overhead) other costequired

to bring the inventories to their present location and condition. Some customizethvpodgress and finished

product inventories are segregated by customer job number and are held at actual cost. Inventories which have costs
determined using the FIFO method represent a small po
time and such inventories turn frequentliet realizable valuespresents the estimatselling pricefor inventories,

lessall estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make thehsadest of workin-process and finished

product inventoes includs the cost of materials, the cost of direct labour, and a systematic allocation of

manufacturing overheads based on a normal range of cafma#tgch production facility.

Inventories are written down to net realizable value when the costegftomnies is estimated to be unrecoverable due

to obsolescence, damage or declining selling prices. When circumstances that previously caused inventories to be
written down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase ipsgeds)ghe amount of
write-down previously recorded is reversed.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment iPP&E0)

PP&E are carried at cogess accumulated depreciation and any impairment loBBescost includes expenditures
directly attributable to the acquisih of the property, plant and equipme@ains and lossesdletermined as the
difference between net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of tharassgtpn the disposal of individual
assets are recognized in earnings inyterof disposal.

PP&Ein the course of construction for production are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of PP&E when completed and ready for intended use.

Depreciatiorcommences when the assets available for use and is recognized on a strdigatbasis to depreciate

the capitalized cost of assets to their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives. When significant
parts of an asset have different expected useful livesatigegccounted for as separate components of the asset and
depreciated over their estimated useful lives and depreciation method when practical. Freehold land is not
depreciated.

Asset class: Useful life:

Freehold land Unlimited useful life, notlepreciated
Buildings 15 to 40 years

Plant and equipment 3 to 20 years

Assets under construction Depreciation commences when the asset is constructed and placed in use

An item of PP&Eis derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arisingeoecognizingn item ofPP&E is measureds the difference
between theetsales proceeds and the gang amount of the assahdis recognized in profit or loss. PP&E is

reviewed quarterly to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Depreciation methods, useful lives,
and residual values are reviewed at least annually and adjusted eriper
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2.8 Leasesand right-of-use assets

The Corporation recognizes a righftuse asset and the corresponding lease obligation at the lease commencement
date. The righbf-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amountexsbdiability

adjusted for any lease prepayments less any lease incentives received. Tdfeusghasset is subsequently
depreciated using the straighte method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term.

The lease obligation is iniflg measured at the present value of the minimum lease payments discounted using the
rate implicit in the | ease when readily available, ot
expense is recognized on the lease obligation using thetigé interest rate method and payments are applied

against the lease obligation.

The Corporation expenses the lease payments associated witkrshdgases of duration of less than twelve months and
leases of lowalue assets.

A right-of-use asset iderecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognizing an item of {bleusghfsset is measured
as the difference between the net salesqads and the carrying amount of the rightuse asset and is recognized in
profit or loss.

Right-of-use assets are reviewed quarterly to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Depreciation
methods, useful lives, and residual values avéewed at least annually and adjusted as appropriate.

2.9 Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separatalgraiedat cost less accumulated amortization
andany accumulatetmpairment losseAmortization is recogiaed on a straigHine basis over their estimated

useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting year and the
effect of any changes in estimates is accounted for on a prospective basis. A sofrestinyated useful life by

asset class is as follows:

Class: Useful life

Technical Reports 3to 3.5 years

Patents 17 years

Product development costs 3 years

Software 3to 5 years

Registered trade names Indefinite life—not amortized

Order backlog Lives of individual contracts (max. 3 years)
Non-compete agreements 1to 1.5 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losseand the carrying amounts are testedifigpairment at least annually or whenever there is an

indication that an asset may be impaired. In the case of impairment, the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if(Bioye 2.11).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized
at their fair value at the acquisition date, whichdesidered to be h e  adeesnedtcosts Subsequent to their initial
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangitddtegsare acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expectedArpngase
or lossarising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between thpotet! dis
proceeds and the carrying amount of the agsetcognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

2.10 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business lesaccumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is not amortized.

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of income.
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2.11 Impairment of long-lived assets

At the end of each reporting year, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets may be
impaired. If any such indation exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the

extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recowenallet of an individual

asset, the Corporation estimates the recoverabbeiat of thecasg e ner at i ng whidghthedsseC GU” ) t
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cashgenerating units, or otherwise they are allocated to tleleshgroup of casigenerating units for

which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwil/| i s a
benefit from the synergiesf the combination. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. Intangible assets with

indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yellai@ for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less ajstsposaklnd value in use. In assessing value in use,

the estinated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjustetihe process of determining cash flows requires management to make estimates and
assumptions which include forecasted future sales, earnings, capital investment, and discount rates.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amouitpghé&ment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the-tetis, lpased on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reagrthe carrying amount of the asse€@U is increased to theevised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recdgnitexlasset or cagiienerating unit in

prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent years.

2.12 Foreign currency translation

i mary economic environment in whi

The Corporation’s pr
ts are presented in Canadian doll ar

financi al stat emen
currency.

At the end of each repting year, nonetaryitems denominated in foreign currencéeretranslatecat exchange
ratesprevailingatthatdate. Gains and losses arising from thtganslation are included in profit or loissthe year in
which they ariseNon-monetary assets driabilities thataremeasuredt their historicatost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

The Cor psobsididriesdooated in the United States have a functional currency of U.S. dollars. The assets and
l'iabilities ofeighdperatidhearepransladd into €dnadiarf dollars using exchange rates prevailing

at the end of each reporting year. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates applicable t
the years when recordedquity balance sheet amoardenominatedh U.S. dollars are translated using historical

exchange rateg&xchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets anilitiehbassumed through acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting year. Exchange differences arising are recognibedt aootprehensive income.

2.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation, and a estabéte can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
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The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting year, taking into account the risks and uncestaintieunding the obligation. When a

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

TheCorporai on’ s provisions are not significant and are 1in
2.14 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilitiase recognizethitially at fair valuewhen the Corporation or a subsidiary of
the Corporation becomes arpato the contractual provisions of the instrum@ote 24).

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial asfie@nara liabilities

(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial asset or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.cli@nsasts that

are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

2.15 Financial assets

Financial assets are classifiadd meauredbased on three categori€¢d:assets@t amortized cost; (iifair value

through profitoor(iiosy {aFVTWPa&lIr e t hrough. Tlet her compr
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financialas$étsdetermined at the time of initial

recognition.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Upon initial recognition, the Corporation classifies its financial
assets as subsequently measured at either amortized cost or fair value, depending on its business model for managing
the financial asts and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if in the period the Corporation changes its business model
for managing financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as
FVTPL:

() The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

(i) The mntractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

2.15.1 Impairment of financial assets

The Corporation usoesss”t hneo deel x pfeocrt ecda | ccrud daitti nlg i mpai r
credit |l osses as a |l oss allowance for assets measu
receivables are typically shetdrm with payments received within a twelve month pkead do not have a
significant financing component, therefore the Corporation recognizes an amount equal to the lifetime
expected credit |l osses based on the Corporation
net of any loss allowsce.Specific reserves may be created for individual customers in exceptional
circumstances. Bad debts are written off against the reserve.

S

2.16 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilitiesare recognizedhitially at fair value and subsequently measured aeeithr value or amortized

costThe Corporation’s f i na ricancallliabilitieseatamdrtizadicists amd ei ot asd e f
borrowings and trade aradher payables and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the iefiecste

method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant year. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated futuwe cash payments through the expected life of the financial liahility.Corporation does not hold any
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

2.17 Taxation

Income tax expensepresents the sum of the tax currently payablesrded tax and prior year adjustments.

45 PFB Corporation Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements I:p oFg
For the yeargendedDecember 312020 and 2019 Better building ideas

Thousands of Canadian dollars

2.17.1 Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable inco
before tax’ as reported in the consol i dexpepsdthat at e m
are taxable or deductible in other years and items

current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting year.

2.17.2 Deérred tax

Deferredtaxis recognizecbn temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
income Deferred tax liabilitis are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deducti#fsteorary differences can be utilized. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction tsateiffest

the taxablencomenor the accountingncome In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at thef eadh reporting year and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at thetésxthat are expected to apply in the year in which

the liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting year. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities e flasts the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Corporation expects, at the end of the reporting
yeatr, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities dfsed when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Corporation has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

2.17.3 Current and deferred tax for theyear

Current, deferred and prior period tax adjustments are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current,
deferred and prioyeartax adjistments are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

2.18 Employee retirement benefit plan

The Corporation has a defined benefit plan (the “ Pl an
aremembers of a union which is their certified bargaining agent. The Plan is registered with the Financial Services
Commission of Ontario and with the Canada Revenue Agency and is funded in accordance with applicable

legislation. Commencing April 1, 2012, tdefined benefit plan was closed to all new hires.

The cost of providing benefits under tAkanis determined using the projected unit credit methmdated based on
service, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual rgpenitidg Remeasurement,

comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling, and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated balance sheet with a charge or creditddoognize
other comprehensive income in the year in which they occumé&ssurement recognized in other comprehensive
income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is
recognized in profior loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate
at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorized as

follows:

1 Service cost (including crent and past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and
settlements);

1 Net interest expense or income; and

1 Remeasurement.
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The Corporation presents service costs in the consolidated statements of income in the line item cost of sales.

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated balance sheets represents the actual deficit or surplus
in the Corporation’s defined benefit plan.

2.19 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing profit attributalslemionon shareholders of the Corporation by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

The Corporation uses the treasury stock method of calculating diluted earnings per common share. The treasury stock
method is used to comauthe dilutive effect of stock options, warrants and similar instruments. Under this method,

the exercise of stock options is assumed to have occurred at the beginning of the year and the related common shares
are assumed issued at that time. The proceensexercise are assumed to have purchased common shares of the
Corporation for cancellation at the average market value price during the year. The incremental shares (the difference
between the number of shares assumed issued and the number of sliemesl ggirchased) are included in the
denominator of the diluted earningsr common share calculatiddiluted earnings per common share exclude all

potential dilutive common shares where the effect isdihttive.

2.20 Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled shardased payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair valuedetermined at the grant datesigpensed over the vesting period, based ontheocCorpt i on’ s e st i
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each repiing year, the Corporation revises its estimdtéhe numigr of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of anyvision to the original estimates, if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate with a corresponding adjustment to theettpdtgmployee
benefits reserve.

3. Critical accounting judgments andestimates

I n the application of the Cor por 2tmamagemens raquiccedounakei ng pol i
judgmentsestimates and assumpticaisout the carrying amounts a$set@andliabilities. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on a combination of historical experience, availalledge of current conditionand other

factors that are considered to be reasonable and relevant under the circumstances. Actual costs asdnaytcome

significantly differ from these estimates and assumptions.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revisionsaffiely that year or in the year of the revision
and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at the end of
the reportig year, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

3.1 Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 requires management to make judgments and estimates. Judgement relaigsntifitaion of

performance obligations in each contract. Some contracts with customers include a bundled set of goods and services
and judgement is required to determine the goods and services that are distinct performance obligations. Judgement
is required to determine any level of integration and any interdependency between goods and services entered with
customers. Allocation of the transaction price to different performance obligations may require estimates. In

instances where information is incoraf@ or not available, determination of selling prices include market conditions

and other observable inputs such as the scope of work and geographic region.

Judgements and estimates are also required to determine an appropriate measure of progresa andeglatery
when determining how control of promised goods or services transfers to a custohterdetermine progress
towards completion of the performance obligations in design build construction contracts
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3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

Estimates bvariable considerationincentivesandrebates are updated regularly as information becomes available
and only to the extent that the variable consideration is constrained.

Remaining performance obligations

Many factors may lead to a change during a contract performance periold,cahicesult in a change to contract
profitability from one financial reporting period to another. Some of the factors that can change the contract revenue
include differing site conditions, the availability of skilled labour, the performance of subdorgramusual

weather and the accuracy of original contracts. Judgements are required of factors that may impact remaining,
unsatisfied performance obligations. Estimates are required to determine the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated tperformance obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied, as at the end of each reporting
period. Judgement is also required to determine the timing of when unsatisfied performance obligations will become
realized as revenue in future periods

Impairment of plant, property and equipment, intangible assets, rightof-use assets and gooduwiill

Determination of which assets constitute a CGU, and identification of indicators of impairment is subject to
management judgments.

Determining whether taniglie, intangible and righdf use assets are impaired requires an estimation of the

recoverable amount of assets or the CGUs to which they have been allocated. Management is required to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU andabkudiscount rate in order to determine the

recoverable amount when using valoause Key assumptions used for the value in use calculations are set out in
Note 17.

Valuation of inventories

Management reviesthe carrying amount dfnished goods inventoriest the end oéach reporting yeand the
recorded amouris adjustedo the lower of cost or net realizable valds.part of the review, management is
required to make certain assumptions when determining expected realizable amounts.

An inventory reserve is maintained for slomoving raw materials and woik-progress inventorie3.he value of
slow-moving inventorisis based oma n a g e eesasgmens of market conditions for its prodastietermined
by historical usagandestimated future demanény write downrsin valuemay be reversed if the circumstances
which causedhemno longer exist.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Amounts included in allowance for doubtful accounts reflect the lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables.
Managementletermines allowances based on best estimates of future expected credit losses, cansideicad

credit loss experiengeurrent economic conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. Significant or
unanticipated changes in economic conditions could impact the magnitude of future expected credit losses.

Income taxes

The Corpor#on is subject to income taxes in both Canada and the U&w&n preparing current amferredtax
expense at the end of each reportiegr, management is required to make certain estimabassumptions
regarding the timing of when temporary differeaawill reverse and tax rates that will be in force at that time.
Unknown future events and circumstances, such as changes in tax rates and laws, may materially affect the
assumptions and estimates made from one year to the next and thereby affectfidateshéinancial statements.

Measurement of retirement benefits

Postemployment benefits are accounted for on an actuarial GdssCorporation engages the services of an
independenactuary to perform valuations of tkeo r p o r defineddenefgplan and the actuary provides a
certified opinionthereon For inclusion in the valuation, management is required to make certain assumptions
including ar appropriate discount rate atite estimated return of plan assefbe estimates are reviewed for
reasonableness by the actuddye to the nature of the assumptions male used in the valuatiortbere is the
potential forfluctuationsof a material naturan the value of the defined benefits in future years.

Property, plant and equipment

The Corpordbn estimates the useful life of property, plant and equipment that it owns or is held under a lease. The
actual useful life of assets and components of assets could vary significantly from the estimated useful lives used in
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determining periodic depreciati expense. Management reviews the useful lives of the assets at least annually to
ensure that expected and actual lives are closely aligned.

3.9 Share-based payment arrangements

The compensation costs relating to skaased payment arrangements are basegstimates of how many common
shares will actually vest and be exercised.

3.10 Leases

IFRS 16 requires management to make judgements and estimates in order to determine the value afftbeaight
assets and the lease liabilities. Judgements may relate idetttification of a lease in a contract and the
determination of the lease term and whether an extension or termination option in a lease will be exercised.

Estimates may relate to the lease term, separation of lease atghseromponents and the detimation of the
appropriate discount rates.

3.11 Impacts of COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic following the emergence and rapid spread
of a novel strain of the coronavirus ("COWI®"). This has resulted in Nortkmerican governments enacting

emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These measures include social distancing, the implementation
of travel bans and closures of ressential businesses, which have caused material disruptions to businesses

globally. The production and sale of building materials have been recognized as an essential service across Canada
and the United States. The Corporation continues to experience demand for its products and services and has not
experienced significant disrtipns in its operations. The Corporation continues to effectively operate, conduct
commercial activities and execute on projects with a focus on health, safety and reliability. As at December 31, 2020,
we have not observed any material impairments of ssedignificant changes in the fair value of assets, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.

The situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact of €@\Wbthe economy and

the financial effect on our operations, financial positiod fimancial performance, remain unknown at this time. It

will depend on future developments that are uncertain and unpredictable, including the duration and spread of
COVID-19, its continued impact on a maescale and any new information that may emexgeerning the severity

of the virus. These uncertainties may persist beyond when it is determined how to contain the virus or treat its impact.
The outbreak presents uncertainty and risk with respect to the Corporation, its performance, and estimates and
assumptions used by management in the preparation of its financial results. In addition, it is possible that estimates in
the financial statements could change in the near term as a result of O\AM the effect of any such changes

could be material, wibh could result in, among other things, impairment of assets. The Corporation is closely
monitoring the impact of the pandemic on all aspects of its business.

4. Application of new and revised International F
4.1 New andrevised accounting standards affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements

TheCorporation has applied a number of new and revised IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“1 ASB?”tyrilyeffeaive foman accommdiny glear that begins on or after January 1, 2020.

1 Amendments to IFRS 3- Business combinations
The amendments proviadarificationon the definition of a business

1 Amendments to IAS 1- Presentation of financial statementnd IAS 8 - Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors

The amendment®fine thedefinition of material.
T Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instrumentsand IFRS 7- Financial instruments: disclosure$ Phase 1

The amendmentaddress isges affecting financial reporting in the period leading up to IBOR reform.
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T  Amendments to IFRS 16- Leases

The amendments address isstgated to the accounting for lease concessions that are a direct consequence of
COVID-19.

The Corporation hadetermined that the amendments had no material impact on the disclosures or on amounts
recognized in the annual consolidated financial statements.

4.2 New and revised accounting standards and interpretations, not yet effective

The IASB and International Finainca | Reporting Interpretations Committee
standards, amendments and interpretations that have not been applied in prepared these consolidation financial
statements as their effective or early adoption dates fall witirinal periods beginning subsequent to the current

reporting period. The new standards and amendments available through early adoption are as follows:

T Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instrumentsand IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: disclosure$ Phase 2

Theamendmentprovide targeted accounting relief and new disclosure requirements to ease the adoption of a
new benchmark rate as a result of IBOR reform. The Corporation does not use IBORs as benchmark rates and
does not anticipate any impact from this anmaadt.

5. Segmentinformation

The Corporation operates individual legal entities in Canada and the USA which are reported as operating segments and
revenue is reported in accordance with that segmentation.

The Corporation has two reportable operating segme€atsada and the USA, and each segment applies the same
accountingpolicies (Note 2), internalontrols and reporting systems. Segments are based on the way management
organizes the operations. Segments are identified and managed by the geographidaodyreguironment they operate
within because they require compliance with different regulations. Segment performance predominantly focuses on
operating results and the manner in which resources are allocated based on Canadian and USA operatioady.respecti

The chief operating decision maker evaluates performance on the basis of operating income or loss, as reported on a
periodic basis. This performance measure is considered to be the most relevant in evaluating the results of each operating
segment.

5.1 Segment sales and operating income

Segment sales represent sales revenues directly attributable to each segmseegrmgat sales have been
eliminated. There are varying levels of integration between each segment.

The Corporation operates individual #@ntities in Canada and the USA which are reported as operating segments
and revenue is reported in accordance with that segmentation.

The Canadian segment primarily derives its revenues f
whichit manufactures at its facilities in Canada. The USA segment primarily derives its revenues from the sale of

EPS foam products, customized log and timber structures made at its facilities in the United States which typically
include design and installaticservices that together provide the basis for a bundled sale of its manufactured

products.

Segment operating income represents the income as reported by each segment excluding any allocations for
corporate income or expenses and foreign exchange gdosses arisinfrom inter-segment settlements.
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Information regarding each reportable operating segmegefmsendedDecembe3l, 2020 and 2A.9 are set out

below:

Sales revenues Operating income

2020 2019 2020 2019
Canada $ 80,453  $ 78,152 $ 14,631 $ 7,831
USA 54,343 55,080 7,451 5,973
Total for segments $ 134,796 $ 133,232 22,082 13,804
Corporate-income (loss) 718 (330)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain on ins&gment settlements (8) 6
Consolidated operating income $ 22,792 $ 13,480

5.2 Segment assets and liabilities

Management measures capital employed using net segmented assets. The location of the capital assets and liabilities
determines the geographic areBlse reconciliation of segmented assets and segmkabddies in relation to total
consolidated assets and liabilities is set out in the table below:

2020 2019
Assets
Segment assets $ 46,869 $ 49,198
Assets not allocated to segments:
Cash and cash equivalents 32,271 20,129
Restricted marketable securities 1,483 1,483
Freehold land and buildings 20,570 21,567
Corporate taxés 313 326
Total assets $ 101,506 $ 92,703
Liabilities
Segment liabilities $ 22,789 $ 18,996
Liabilities not allocatedo segments:
Lease obligations 8,895 9,846
Long-term debt 7,856 8,217
Total liabilities $ 39,540 $ 37,059
Net segment assets
Canada $ 18,746 $ 22,889
USA 5,334 7,313

! Deferred taxes
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5.3 Other segmentinformation

2020 2019
Additions to non-current assets
Canada $ 824 $ 1,172
USA 768 917
Corporate - 113
Total $ 1,592 $ 2,202
Additions to right -of-useassets
Canada $ 137 $ 351
USA 75 126
Total $ 212 $ 477
Depreciation and amortization:
Canada $ 2,431 $ 2,526
USA 959 973
Corporate 1,052 1,059
Total $ 4,442 $ 4,558
Inter -segment sales $ 5,515 $ 8,202
6. Other gains (losses)
2020 2019
Unrealized foreign exchange losses $ (65) $ (12)
Realized foreign exchange gains (losses) 206 (79)
Gain (loss) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 49 (12)
Sharebased payment expense (62) (990)

$ 128  $ (1,092

7. Income taxes
7.1 Income taxes recognized in thgear

2020 2019
Current tax expense $ 5,149 $ 3,661
Deferred tax expense (recovery) 230 (251)
Income tax expense $ 5,379 $ 3,410

In the year ended December 31200deferred income tagxpensef $49 (2019 - expense 0$78) was recognized
directly in other comprehensive income.
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The income tax expense can be reconciled to the accounting income as follows:

2020 2019
Income before taxes $ 21,799 $ 12,436
Income tax expense calculated at 24.9% (2026.9%) $ 5,28 $ 3,345
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction 50 (102)
Enacted rate changes (22) (88)
Expenses not deductible in determining taxable income 17 306
Prior period adjustments and reassessments (108) (63)
Other 14 12
Income tax expense $ 5,379 $ 3,410

The statutory tax rate in the table above is the combined USA and Canadian federal and blended provincial and state
corporate incoméax rate of approximately 24.9% (20426.9%).

7.2 Current tax liabilities
As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 201¢

Current tax liabilities
Income taxes payable $ 1,999 $ 1,469

7.3 Deferred tax balances

The Corporation is subject to taxnmultiple jurisdictions and deferred tax assets and liabilities arising in different
jurisdictions cannot be netted against each other. The analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities presented in the
consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment $ 567 $ 588
Land (94) (97)
Other (160) (164)
$ 313 $ 327
Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment $ (2,005) $ (1,826)
Intangible assets (164) (140)
Other 22 (46)
Reserves 163 164
Lease items 574 588
$ (1,410) $ (1,260)
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8. Earnings per share

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

2020 2019
Net income for the year $ 16,420 $ 9,026
Weighted average number of common shares outstantsjc 6,733,022 6,720,859
Effect of:
Dilutive stock options 190,906 186,676
Weighted average number of common shares outstandiinted 6,923,928 6,907,535
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 2.44 $ 1.34
Diluted $ 2.37 $ 1.31
9. Cash and cash equivalents
As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31,2019
Cash held with banks $ 24,771 $ 18,629
Shortterm investments 7,500 1,500
$ 32,271 $ 20,129
Interest income earned on bank balances and-trontinvestments is reported as investment income in the
consolidated statements of income.
As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31,2019
Cash- restricted $ 2,033 $ 924

Restricted cash comprises cash collected from certain customers of the USA segment which is contractually segregated
from other cash as it is held exclusively for disbursements to suppliers and service providers specific to those individual

customer conticts.

10. Trade receivables

Eligblet r ade receivables held by

t he

Corporationabanklubsi di a

support ofa revolving credit facilityThe revolving credit facility was unused aatcember 31, 2ZD.

10.1 Current trade receivables

As at As at
Aging profile Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31,2019
Current and past due for less than 30 days $ 11,155 $ 10,019
Past due for between 2hd 90 days 280 1,127
Past due for 91 days or longer 18 327
Total groscurrenttrade receivables 11,453 11,473
Allowance for doubtful accounts (761) (727)
Current trade receivables, net $ 10,692 $ 10,746
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The average trade credit allowed on the sale of goods is between 30 and 60 days from the date of shipment. For
sales oftustomized products and services, deposits and/or payment installments are typically incorporated into
contract terms to mitigate the potential for default. Deposits and installments received on individual accounts
which exceed the value of goods andknvices invoiced are recorded as contract liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

The Corporation has recognized an allowance for doubtful trade receivables on accounts that are past due by
more than 31 days based loest estimates of future expedtcredit losseand estimated irrecoverable amounts
determined by reference to past experiences. As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the allowance for doubtful
accounts reserve includes amounts to cover new accounts in the Canadian segment and coptisunegvth
several longstanding customers in the USA segment, both of which have trade receivables included in the past
due for 91 days or longer category.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Corporation considers any chtaegeédit quality
of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting year. The
concentration of credit risk is limited due to the fact that the customer base is large and diversified.

10.2 Change in allowance fordoubtful accounts

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending carryi.
accounts is as follows:
2020 2019
Balance at beginning of year $ (727) $ (548)
Additional amounts provided for during tlrear (44) (225)
Trade receivables written off during the year 10 46
Balance at end of year $ (761) $ (727)
11.Inventories
As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31,2019
Raw materials $ 5,509 $ 6,046
Work in progress 2,042 2,156
Finished goods 2,510 3,396
$ 10,061 $ 11,598

Eligible inventoriesheldyp each of the Cor por at i o mavebeel pladged ds aecuritgwitd US A
a bank in support of revolving credicilities. The revolving credit facilities were unuseca®ecember 312020.

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense in cost of sales in the year ended December 31 370286 wgx019
- $77,849. Included in the cost of inventories recognized as an expense werglowits from full cost to netealizable
value in the amount of $1,199 (2019633). There were no reversals of any wiitewns in either 2020 &019.

12. Contract costs

Contract costs represent the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer on the expectation tri#se costs

be recovered. Contract costs are comprised of sales commissions paid or payable to obtain certain contracts. These costs
are amortized on a proportionate basis as a selling expense over the life of the contract, as this reflects the period over
which goods or services are transferred to the customer. Amortization recognized in selling expenses gwaadngaise
$415(2019 - $515). Amortization of contract costs follows the seasonality of operations and is typically higher in the

second and third quarter upon completion of performance obligations. Contract costs remaining to be amortized as selling
expenses arer82 (2019 - $487).
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13.Remaining performance obligations

Performance obligations for certain goods manufactured, construction and design contracts generally include deposits
which are initially recorded as contract liabilities and represent obligations of work that hasbexryebmpleted.

Revenue from unsatisfied performance obligations is recognized when services are rendered and control of the goods is
transferred to the customers. For contracts that include deposits, the total remaining performance oatigaticraend

were $£5,636 (2019 $18,440Q. The Corporation estimates it will recognize approximat@ly,$41of revenue from the
unsatisfied performance obligations upon completion of those performance obligations over the next twelve months and
$5,195after twelhe months.

14.Property, plant and equipment

Plant and Assets under

Cost Freehold land Buildings equipment construction Total
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 8,612 $ 26,491 $ 44,547 $ 448 $ 80,098
Additions - - 107 1,778 1,885
Disposal of PRE assets - - (1,269) - (1,269)
Transfers between assttisses - 153 1,053 (1,206) -

Effect of foregn currency changes (92) (347) (425) (11) (875)
Balance at December 312019 8,520 26,297 44,013 1,009 79,839
Additions - - 44 1,503 1,547
Disposal of PP&E assets - (16) (814) - (830)
Transfers between assttisses - 328 1,916 (2,244) -

Effect of foregn currency change: (36) (138) (210) (24) (408)
Balance at December 312020 $ 8,484 $ 26,471 $ 44,949 $ 244 $ 80,148

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2019 $ - $ 11,351 $ 32,053 $ - $ 43,404
Depreciation expense - 1,191 1,883 - 3,074
Disposal of PP&E assets - - (1,2112) - (1,211)
Effect of foregn currency changes - (198) (260) - (458)
Balance at December 31, 2019 - 12,344 32,465 - 44,809
Depreciation expense - 1,167 1,813 - 2,980
Disposal of PP&E assets - (16) (796) - (812)
Effect of foregn currency changes - (94) (135) - (229)
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ - $ 13,401 $ 33,347 $ - $ 46,748

Net book values
2019 $ 8,520 $ 13,953 $ 11,548 $ 1,009 $ 35,030
2020 8,484 13,070 11,602 244 33,400

Depreciation commences when assets are available foDepeciation expense for the year enBatember 31, 2D in
the amounbf $2,750 (2019 $2,819 is included in cost odales with anamount 0f$112(2019- $123) included in selling
expenses, and amountof $109(2019- $133) included in administrative expenses.

Assets under construction asDecember 31, 2020 are expected to be available for use in 2021.
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15. Right-of-use assets

Machinery
Truck and Office and

Cost Property Vehicles trailers  equipment equipment Total
Balance at January 1, 209 $ 12,266 $ 798 $ 249 $ 362 $ 25 $ 13,700
Additions 212 229 - 36 - 477
Disposal of rightof-use assets - (125) - (14) - (139)
Effect of foreign currency changes (139) (14) (6) (13) 1) (173)
Balance atDecember31, 2019 12,339 888 243 371 24 13,865
Additions 44 168 - - - 212
Disposal of rightof-use assets - (196) - (168) - (364)
Effect of foreign currency changes (56) 4) (2) (5) - (67)
Balance atDeember 31, 2020 $ 12,327 $ 856 $ 241 $ 198 $24 $ 13,646
Accumulated Depreciation

Balance atJanuary 1, 2019 $ 4,616 $ 512 $ 61 $ 185 $21 $ 5,395
Depreciation expense 1,002 182 43 96 3 1,326
Disposal of rightof-use assets - (127) - (12) - (139)
Effect of foreign currency changes (91) (7) 3) (7 - (108)
Balance atDecember31, 2019 5,527 560 101 262 24 6,474
Depreciation expense 1,010 198 44 60 - 1,312
Disposal of rightof-use assets - (196) - (168) - (364)
Effect of foreign currency changes (50) (6) (2) (5) - (63)
Balance atDecenber 31, 2020 $ 6,487 $ 556 $ 143 $ 149 $ 24 $ 7,359
Net book values

2019 $ 6,812 $ 328 $ 142 $ 109 $ - $ 7,391
2020 5,840 300 98 49 - 6,287

Depreciation expense ftine year ended Decemtigk, 2020 in the amounobf $878(2019 - $889) is included in cosbf
sales, withanamount of 290 (2019 - $279) included in selling expenses, and amountef4§2019 - $158) included in
administrative expenses
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16.Intangible assets

Product Non-

development Registered Technical  Order compete
Cost Patents costs Software trade names Reports backlog agreement Total
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 70 $976 $ 2,817 $ 1,368 $- $ 202 $ 39 $ 5472
Additions - - 317 - - - - 317
Disposal of intangible assets - - (433) - - - - (433)
Effect of foreigncurrency change - (15) (23) (66) - (20) (2) (116)
Balance at December 31, 2019 70 961 2,678 1,302 - 192 37 5,240
Additions - - 45 - - - - 45
Transfers - - - (80) 80 - - -
Effect of foreign currency change - (6) (9) (21) 4) (4) (2) (45)
Balance at December 31,2020 $ 70 $ 955 $ 2,714 $ 1,201 $ 76 $ 188 $ 36 $ 5240
Accumulated Amortization
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 63 $ 976 $ 2,745 $ - $- $ 202 $39 $ 4,025
Amortization expense 5 - 153 - - - - 158
Disposal of intangible assets - - (433) - - - - (433)
Effect of foreign currencghangs - (15) (23) - - (10) 2 (50)
Balance at December 31, 2019 68 961 2,442 - - 192 37 3,700
Amortizationexpense 2 - 140 - 8 - - 150
Disposal of intangible assets - - - - - - - -
Effect of foreign currency change - (6) (9) - - 4) 0} (20)
Balance at December 31,2020 $ 70 $ 955 $ 2,573 $ - $8 $ 188 $ 36 $ 3,830
Net book values
2019 $2 $ - $ 236 $ 1,302 $ - $ - $- $1540
2020 - - 141 1,201 68 - - 1,410

Amortization expense for the year ended DecembgP®0 in the amourdf $7 (2019- $8) is included in cost of goods
sold,anamount of$6 (2019 - $7) isincluded in selling expenses, and an amountl37$2019- $143) is included in

administrative expenses.
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17.Goodwill
17.1 Cost
2020 2019
Balance at beginning of year $ 2,275 $ 2,360
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences (34) (85)
Balance at end ofyear $ 2,241 $ 2,275

As at the testing date selected, the Corporation determined that the value in usecagkgeherating unit
exceededts carrying amounts and therefore no provision for impairment was recognized. Ithoodeéégrmine
whether impairment is incurred, the Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of each CGU. Recoverable
amounts are determined on the basis of value in use calculations

17.2 Allocation of goodwill to cashgenerating units

The carrying amount afoodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash
generating units:

As at As at

Dec 31,2020  Dec 31,2019

Canada $ 580 $ 580
USA 1,661 1,695
$ 2,241 $ 2,275

The recoverable amounts of the cagimerating units are determined by performing value in use calculations which

use cash flow projections based on a-gear financial budget approved by the directors plus future financial
projections covering an additial fouryear period. The cash flow projections for the four year period following the
budget year are prepared in a manner consistent with
medium term operating performance of the CGUs and thketsin which they operate. The valuation model also

takes into account working capital requirements and capital investments required to support the sales revenue
projections, and terminal values.

The Corporation used a discouate of 14.09412.0% in 219). The discount rate was determined based on an
estimate of the Corporation’s weight#ard average cost

The key assumptions used for value in use calculations2@&td 209 were as follows:

Compound annual Long-term
Year Cash generatingunit growth rate (5 Years) growth rate Discount rate
2020 Canada 2.3% 2.0% 14.0 %
USA 6.1 % 2.0% 14.0%
2019 Canada 3.0% 2.0% 12.0%
USA 6.0 % 2.0% 12.0%
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18. Retirement benefits plans
18.1 Group registeredretirement savings plan

The Corporationoperates group registererktirementsavingsplanfor all qualifying employees in &hadaThe

assets ogach individual in the plaareheld separately from those oktiCorporatiorin investment instruments

underthe control ofa large Canadian insurékn i ndi vi dual empl oy e e’ -admnistgeglt s h e
by the employee. The Corporati on’ sretiebdnsagrgdlansisto wi t h r e
administer employee contribatis via the payroll and to partatch contributions made by employees based on an
established policy.

18.2 Group 401K plan

The Corporationoperategroup 401K plangor all qualifying employeekcated in Nevada, MichigaiMinnesota
Ohioandldaho, USA, in with qualifying employees may elect to defer current wages for retirement. The
Corporation has the option to match employee contributions to the plans.

The assets dhe plansareheld separately from those oktiCorporation by a trust company and govdrbg a
custodial agreemeninder the Employee Retirement Income Security(AERISA"). The Corporation also utilizes
the services of registered investment brokers and third party adminisiratioegulfilment of its actuarial and
fiduciary responsibities with respect to the plans.

18.3 Defined benefit pension plan

The Corporatiomoperates funded defined benefitension plan foqualifying Ontariocbased employees who are
members of the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Enesgy)ilistrial an&ervice

Workers International bion. Under the plan, retiring employees receive on a monthly basis a fixed benefit amount
multiplied by the number of years of eligible service. No other-pgisement benefits are provided to these
employeesexcept for a minimal amount of life insurance coverage

The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and the present value of defined benefit obligation were determined
as at December 31, 2019 and the accounting valuations were subsegpéatbd to December 31, 2020, by the
independent actuary. Timext valuation report is required as at December 322.20

The table below outlines the amounts included in the
obligation in respectfats defined benefit plan:
As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Present value of the funded defined benefit obligatior $ (2,140) $ (1,945)
Fair value of plan assets 2,177 2,249
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation $ 37 $304

The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial accounting valuations were as follows:

2020 2019
Discount rate (end of fiscal year) 2.75% 3.25%
Expected return on plan assets 2.75% 3.25%

Amounts recognizeds an expense in respect of the defined benefit plan were as follows:

2020 2019
Current service costs $ 45 $ 46
Administration costs 34 12
Interest costs 73 72
Interest income (82) (72)
$ 70 $ 58
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The expense for the yeds includedin cost of sales in the consolidated statements of income.

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

2020 2019
Opening defined benefit obligation $ 1,945 $ 1,898
Current service costs 45 46
Interest cost on obligation 73 72
Benefit payments (72) (61)
Actuarial gain 149 (10)
Closing defined benefit obligation $ 2,140 $ 1,945

Movements in the present value of the pdasets were as follows:

2020 2019
Opening fair value of plan assets $ 2,249 $ 1,908
Actual return on plan assets 34 306
Employer contributions - 108
Administration costs (34) (22)
Benefit payments (72) (61)
Closing fair value of planassets $ 2,177 $ 2,249

The major categories of plan assats as follows:

Distribution of plan assets

As at As at

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Equity instruments 77 % 73 %

Fixed income securities 23 % 27 %

Total 100 % 100 %
To the best of management’s knowl edge, none of the pl

The Corporatioris not required tanake contributions to the defined benefit plan in thelfthancial year.
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19. Contract liabilities

The Corporatiorenters into contracts to sell its products and services in the normal course of its operations. When the
customer’s payment precedes performance, the Corporatio
recognized for the estimated egbs payable to customers associated with recognized sales at the end of the period.

Contract liabilities are reduced as performance obligations are achieved and rebates paid. The changes in contract
liabilities are set out below:

Contract liabilities Revenue related to
Balance, Current Beginning Balance,
beginning Current period of period Rebates, Foreign end of
2020 of period * period 2 deposits® deposits” net> exchange period
Jan 1- Mar 31 $ 5,943 $ 4,251 $ (2,099) $ (1,836) $ (1,202) $ 340 $ 5,397
Apr 1-Jun 30 5,397 8,106 (2,437) (2,768) 360 (258) 8,400
Jul 1- Sep 30 8,400 10,086 (4,622) (4,535) 467 (77) 9,719
Oct 1- Dec 31 9,719 10,303 (6,527) (5,510) 34 (300) 7,719
2019
Jan 1 Mar 31 $ 6,464  $ 5540 $ (2,502) $ (2,503) $ (1,166) $ (23) $ 5,810
Apr 1- Jun 30 5,810 8,657 (3,226) (3,075) 569 (81) 8,654
Jul 1- Sep 30 8,654 9,495 (4,115) (4,522) 412 148 10,072
Oct1- Dec 31 10,072 8,670 (5,899) (6,909) 169 (160) 5,943

! Contract liabilities for astomer deposits th@orporation has receivedr outstanding performance obligaticarsd unpaid customer rebatssrned and
payable by the Corporation

2Customer deposits that th@@oration has received during the perimin newcontracts with customers additional customer deposits eristing
contractswith customersy n advance of the Corporation’s performance

3Revenue recognized through the completion of performance tibligaelated only to the extent new customer deposits are received in the same period,
excluding any amounts recognized as revenue from beginning balances. The decrease in contract liabilities is constemuedrézognized from
customer deposits pfied to performance obligations achieved in the current period.

4 Revenue recognized through the completion of performance obligations related to either new or existing contracts, fodepssitsen hand from
prior periods, that was includedtime beginning balance and excludes amounts recognized during the period in the note above.

5Customer rebates payable to customers, net of amounts settled.

20.Borrowings
20.1 Operating credit facilities
Canada

In January 2019, the Corporation increased its tfadility arrangements from $10,000 to $17,000. The revolving
facility continues to be secured by a first ranking security interest in trade receivables and inventories of the
Canadian subsidiary.he Corporation provides a guarantee and postponemelairofto the bank inhe amount of

$17,000

The interest rate applicable on draws made against th
carries a nominal maintenance fee. The credit facility was not drawn as at December 31, ZIP®and

USA

The USA segment has a credit facility arrangement with a US bank for a variable rate revolving facility in the
amount of $3,000. The revolving facility is secured by all inventory and equipment of the USA subsidiary and is
subject to additioal covenants. The interest rate applicable on draws made against the facility is a ratedidsed
on an index plus 0.25%.

Under the facility, the USA subsidiary is subject to certain covenants, one of which is a financial covenant to
maintain an Opetting Cash Flow to Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of not less than 1.20:1. The second covenant is to

PFB Corporation Annual Report 20262



Notes to the @nsolidated Financial Statements PFB

CORPORATION

For the yeargendedDecember 312020 and 2019 Better building ideas
Thousands of Canadian dollars

maintain a Total Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio of less than 3.00 to 1.00. The credit facility was not used as at
December 31, 2020.

The Corporation coirtues to follow a policy of carrying US dollar balances and borrowing in Canadian dollars,
when required, rather than executing multiple citossier foreign exchange transactions.

20.2 Long-term debt
The Cor p o r-tarin debtrpodsision Is stategl in tfwlowing table:
Dec 31, 2020 Dec3l, 2019

Balance at beginning ofperiod $ 8,217 $ 8,568
Repayments (361) (351)
Balance at end ofperiod $ 7,856 $ 8,217

As at February 28, 2017, the Corporation obtained-teng debtwith afive year durationfrom a Canadian bank to

fund the purchase of a real estate transaction at a fixed interest rate of 3.25%. Thatohept is being amortized

over a 20 year amortization period and subject to reniemi@bruary 2022The longterm cebt is eligible for

prepayment privilege, subject to certain prepayment penaltiesaadieeddy t he Cor poration’ s p
Borrowing and closing costs were expensed as incuaeemounts are not material.

The Corporation is subject to certain coaats on its longerm debt, one of which is a financial covenant to
maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 10B5The financial covenant ratio is tested on an
annual, yeaend basisT he financial covenant ratio waalculatedand theCorporation was compliant with the ratio
as at December 31, 2020.

Estimated principal repayments on letggm debt through to maturity are set out in the table below:

Dec3l, 2020
Current within 12 months $ 373
Due within 12 to 24 months 385
Due within 25 to 36 months 398
Due within 37 to 48 months 411
Due within 49 to 60 months 425
Due after 60 months 5,864
Total $ 7,856

21.L ease obligations

The Corporation has lease obligations for contracts related to propertyditicel space, manufacturing and storage
facilities), vehicles, truck and trailermsffice equipment and machinery and equipmerase obligations for automobiles
and equipmera r e secured by the | esdequipment ti tl e to the automobi

Lease term are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Discount
ratesin effecton outstanding leases, for thear ended December 31,220variedbetween 1.2% and 18.142019—1.2%
and 18.1%yepending on thenature andluration of the lease.
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21.1

21.2

The Corporation’s | ease 204dntl 209ad statechirsthedoiowiagttablBre c e mb e r
Minimum lease payments
As at As at
Dec 31,2020 Dec 31, 2019
Not later than one year $ 1,972 $ 2,024
Later than one year and not later than five years 6,321 6,683
Later than five years 6,593 7,965
Total minimum lease payments 14,886 16,672
Less: amounts representifigance costs 5,991 6,826
Present value of minimum lease payments $ 8,895 $ 9,846
Lease obligations are included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:
As at As at
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019
Current $ 1,161 $ 1,167
Long-term 7,734 8,679
Total $ 8,895 $ 9,846
Lease obligations
Machinery
Truck and Office and
Property Vehicles trailers equipment equipment Total
Balance at January 1, 209 $ 9,929 $ 304 $ 191 $ 182 $3 $ 10,609
Additions 211 230 - 36 - 477
Repaymerg (825) (190) (42) (98) 3) (1,157)
Disposal - - - (2) - (2)
Effect of foreign currencghanges (64) (8) 3) (6) - (81)
Balance atDecember 312019 9,251 336 147 112 - 9,846
Additions 44 168 - - - 212
Repaymers (858) (194) (42) (62) - (1,1%)
Disposal - - - 1) - Q)
Effect of foreign currencghanges (8) - - 2 - (6)
Balance at December 31, 2D $ 8,429 $ 310 $ 105 $ 51 $ - $ 8,895
Current $ 934 $ 150 $ 43 $ 34 $ - $ 1,161
Longterm 7,495 160 62 17 - 7,734
Total $ 8,429 $ 310 $ 105 $ 51 $ - $ 8,895

Expense related to sheadrm leases during theearendedDecember31, 2020 was $39 (2013%37). Expense

related to low value leases during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $1$2019

Total cash outflows for lease payments duringyth@rendedDecember 3, 220was £,011(2019 - $2,049.
Finance costs paid relating to lease obligations duringgheended®ecember 3, 2020 was$855 019 - $889).
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22.Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The following table provides @econciliation between the opening and closing balances for financing activities, including
cash and nogash flows changes:

Cash changes Non-cash changes
Foreign
Dec 31, 2019Borrowings Repayments  Additions Disposal exchange Dec 31 2020
Long-termdebt $ 8,217 $ - $ (361) $ - $ - $ - $ 7,856
Lease obligations 9,846 - (1,156) 212 Q) (6) 8,895
Total $ 18,063 $ - $ (1,517) $ 212 $ (1) $ (6) $ 16,751

23.Issuedcapital
23.1 Authorized
The Cor pavuthoasized shane capital represents:

(a) An unlimited number of voting common shares without nominal or par value waichone vote per share
and carry a right to dividends.

(b) An unlimited number of preferred shares without nominal or par value, issua@gen at the discretion of the
directors of the Corporation of which none are outstanding.

23.2 Share-based payments

The Corporation has a stock option plan under which the maximum number of shares issuable is equal to 10% of the
number of issued and outsthing common shares. A stock option allows the grantee of the option to acquire

common shares of the Corporation, at the strike price established at the time dDgtianis may be exercised at

any time from the vestindateto the date of expiryThe stike price of each stock option is determined with

referece t o the mar ket pri ce o Eachsthase ogfiancgmentsantoione ordirary c o mmo n
commonshare of the Grporationupon exercisingNo amounts are paid or payable by the rectpierinitial receipt

of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights.

Under PFB’' s s 600,80R stozkpoptionsawve bpegrmantedto senior managemenith an exercise

price ranging from 8.50 to $11.7%er shareand there were 25,000 stock options granted to directors with an

exercise price of $8.05 per share in the prior year under the current stock optio®ptems granted vest on a

graduated schedule and expire ten years subsequent to the grant daeerdise price of the options was
determined with reference to the price of PFB's stock

The following table sets forth information concerning thputs used in this modethare options outstdimg,
exercisable, the weighted average exercise price and weighted average remaining life as at December 31, 2020:

Grant date
Weighted  Weighted Weighted
Weighted Weighted average average Expected average
Number of ~ Number of average average risk-free expected Estimated annual fair value
options options  exercise remaining interest life volatility  dividend per
outstanding  exercisable price life (years) rate (%) (years) (%) vyield (%) option
369,000 69,000 $ 8.50 7.25 2.11 9.69 18.04 3.98 $ 0.76
100,000 10,000 $ 11.75 8.25 1.76 10.00 16.91 2.72 $ 1.56
125,000 - $11.75 9.25 2.11 10.00 31.37 3.68 $ 1.87

594,000 79,000 $ 972 7.83

At the grant date, each option is measurdtiefiair valuedetermined using thBlack-Scholes option pricing model
The riskfree interest rate is based on Government of Canada bonds with similar duration, at the grant date. The
weighted average expected life is based from the grant date to the date on which the option is expected t
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exercised. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic share price volatility over the most recently
completed annual reporting period.

Options with vesting requirements have an aggregatedhie of $42 or $0.93er option and are asrtized on a
straightline basis over the ten year vesting period with the quarterly amortizationntseported as compeason
expense included adher losses on the income statement with theeifto equitysettled employee benefits
reserve®n thebalance sheet.

In the year ended December 31, 2020, upon the exercise of options at a weighted average exercise price of $8.50, the
Corporation issued 6,000 shares through the issuance of common shares from treasury. In the year ended December
31, 2019upon the exercise of options at a weighted average exercise price of $8.05, the Corporation issued 25,000
shares through the issuance of common shares from treasury.

23.3 Restricted Share Units

On January 1, 2019, 100, §00 wRwastdreidc tteod tShhea rGeo rlpnoirtast i(o"l
Operating Officer and current Director. Each restricted share unit gives the holder the right to receive one common
share of the Corporation. The rights to acquire 100,000 common shares of the Corporatiottectidgheo&the

Director, vested immediately on the date of graihie shardbased remuneration expense of the R§disbased on

the fair value of the common shares on the date of grant using the closing market share price on the date prior to the
grant. Tke Corporation recorded a shdrased remuneration expense for an amount of $950 as a compensation

expense in other losses in the income statement, with an offset to-seftlitgd employee benefits reserue2019.

During the year ended December 31, 2aR@ Corporation settled the outstanding R8Wough the issuance of
common shares from treasury. The accumulated charges related to theeR&Uded in equitgettle employee
reserves were transferred to share capital on the issuance of 100,000 czimanesrin settlement of the exercised
RSU award.

23.4 Normal Course Issuer Bid

In SeptembeR02Q the Corporation obtained approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange to renew its Normal Course
| ssuer Bid (the -“mBnthgéripd, whichoicgnmmenoedfSeptembzer 3128 and ends no later

than September 2, 202The renewal allows the Corporation to purchase up to a maximum of 50,000 of its common
shares, represent i n g,79,0034s8aedndf outstamaing €dmmaom sharastas ab AuZdist

2020, subject to daily maximum purchases of 1,000 common shares. The Corporation will purchase frimm time

time its common shares at market prices by means of open market transactions on the Toront@!stoge Ex

In theyearendedDecamber 3, 2019, the Corporation purchased for cancellation 50,000 of its common, shares
under the previous Bidor an aggregate price of $525, of which $368 was charged to retained earnings as a premium
on redemption of theommon shares

In theyearendedDecember31, 2020, the Corporatiatid not purchase any of its common shares.

23.5 Dividends

In the first quarter of 20